
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Housing Committee 

Date Tuesday 7 June 2016 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

 
Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing 
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Andrew Boff AM (Chair) 
Tom Copley AM (Deputy Chair) 
Sian Berry AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 

Tony Devenish AM 
Nicky Gavron AM 
David Kurten AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chair of the Committee to deal with the business 

listed below.  

Mark Roberts, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Friday 27 May 2016 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Ed Wise, Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 4619; Email: 
ed.wise@london.gov.uk. 
 
For media enquiries please contact: Ben Walker; Telephone: 020 7983 5769; 
Email: ben.walker@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact 
the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:ben.walker@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Housing Committee 
Tuesday 7 June 2016 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chair.  

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Ed Wise, ed.wise@london.gov.uk, 020 7983 4619 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Membership of the Committee  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the membership and chairing arrangments 

for the Housing Committee, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 13 May 2016, as follows: 

 

Andrew Boff AM (Chair) 

Tom Copley AM (Deputy Chair) 

Sian Berry AM 

Leonie Cooper AM 

Tony Devenish AM 

Nicky Gavron AM 

David Kurten AM 
 
 

mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk


 

4 
 

4 Terms of Reference  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the following terms of reference for the 

Committee: 

 

1.  To examine and report from time to time on –  

 matters of importance to Greater London; and 

 the strategies, policies and actions of the Mayor and the Functional Bodies 

as they relate to housing matters in London. 

 

2. To consider housing matters on request from another standing committee 

and report its opinion to that standing committee. 

 

3. To respond on behalf of the Assembly to consultations and similar processes 

when within its terms of reference. 

 

4. To take into account in its deliberations the cross cutting themes of: the 

health of persons in Greater London; the achievement of sustainable 

development in the United Kingdom; climate change; and the promotion of 

opportunity. 
 
 

5 Standing Delegation of Authority  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the following standing delegation: 

 

At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general authority to 

Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on the relevant committee 

or sub-committees behalf, following consultation with the lead Members of the party Groups 

on the committee or sub-committee, where it is consulted on issues by organisations and 

there is insufficient time to consider the consultation at a committee meeting. 
 
 

6 Minutes (Pages 5 - 50) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the 

Committee held on 23 February 2016 to be signed by the Chair as a correct record. 
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 50 is attached for Members and officers only 

but is available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing  
 
 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing


 

5 
 

7 Summary List of Actions (Pages 51 - 56) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ed Wise; ed.wise@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4619 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed actions arising from its 

previous meetings. 
 
 

8 Action Taken under Delegated Authority (Pages 57 - 64) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Ed Wise; ed.wise@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4619 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the action taken by Tom Copley AM, the 

former Chair of the Housing Committee, under delegated authority, namely to 

agree, in consultation with the then party Group Lead Members: 

 

(a) An open letter to the next Mayor of London concerning increasing provision 

of affordable homes for rent in London, as attached at Appendix 1 to the 

report; and 

  

(b) The Committee’s report on the effect of rent stabilisation on London’s 

housing market. 
 
 

9 The Impact of Rent Stabilisation on London's Tenants and Landlords  
(Pages 65 - 110) 

 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note its report on the impact of rent stabilisastion on London’s tenants and 

landlords, At Home with Renting, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 

  

(b) Note a response received about the report from the former Mayor, 

Boris Johnson MP, as attached at Appendix 2 to the report.   
 

 The appendices to the report set out on pages 70 to 110 are attached for Members and officers 

only but are available from the following area of the Greater London Authority’s website: 

www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing  
 
 
 
 

mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk
mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk
mailto:lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing


 

6 
 

10 Questions to the Deputy Mayor for Housing (Pages 111 - 114) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the report as background to putting 

questions to the Deputy Mayor for Housing about housing issues in London, and 

note the subsequent discussion. 
 
 

11 Site Visit to East Thames Supported Housing Schemes (Pages 115 - 118) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the record of its site visit to supported 
housing schemes managed by the East Thames housing association.  
 
 

12 Housing Committee Work Programme (Pages 119 - 122) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Lorraine Ford, scrutiny@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4394 

 

The Committee is recommended to:  

 

(a) Agree its initial work programme; and 

 

(b) Agree to use its meeting on 5 July 2016 for a discussion concerning 

Supported Housing in London, with the scope outlined at paragraph 4.3 of 

this report. 
 
 

13 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Tuesday, 5 July 2016 at 10.00 am in 

Committee Room 5, City Hall. 
 
 

14 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk
mailto:lorraine.ford@london.gov.uk
mailto:crutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2016 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 June 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Chairman of LFEPA; Chairman of the London Local 
Resilience Forum; Member, LB Bexley 

Kemi Badenoch AM  

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Member, LFEPA; Congress of Local and Regional 
Authorities (Council of Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LFEPA 

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Member, LFEPA 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority] 
 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Ed Wise, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4619 

E-mail: Ed.wise@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Housing Committee 
Date: Tuesday 23 February 2016 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Committee Room 5, City Hall, The 

Queen's Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing 

 
Present: 
 
Tom Copley AM (Chair) 
Nicky Gavron AM 
Jenny Jones AM 
Stephen Knight AM 
Steve O'Connell AM 
Fiona Twycross AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Darren Johnson AM, for whom Jenny Jones AM 

substituted, and from Andrew Boff AM. 

 

1.2 During the course of the meeting, noting that this was the final formal meeting of the 

Housing Committee in this Assembly Year, the Chair offered thanks to Secretariat officers for 

their work over the last four years of the Assembly’s term. 

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

2.2 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/housing


Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Tuesday 23 February 2016 

 

 
 

3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2016 be signed by the Chair as 

a correct record. 

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 

4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

4.2 Resolved: 

 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 

Committee be noted. 

 
 
5   Questions to the Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property  

(Item 5) 

 

5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions on housing issues in London to the following invited guests: 

 Richard Blakeway, Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property; 

 David Lunts, Executive Director, Housing and Land, Greater London Authority (GLA); 

 Neal Hudson, Associate Director, Residential Research, Savills; 

 Matt Downie, Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis; and  

 Pat Hayes, Executive Director, Regeneration and Housing, London Borough of Ealing. 

 

5.2 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

5.3 During the course of the discussion Members requested that the GLA provide the following 

information in writing: 

 A copy of the GLA Planning team’s response to the Government’s consultation on the 

National Planning Policy Framework and confirmation whether the response would be 

made public; 

 Data on the number of completion waivers signed before 31 March 2015, and 

confirmation whether the proportion of waivers signed was higher than usual; and 

 Confirmation as to which large landlord businesses had signed up to the London Rental 

Standard. 

 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Tuesday 23 February 2016 

 

 
 

5.4 Resolved:  

 

That the report and discussion be noted. 

 
 
6   Affordable Homes for Rent in London (Item 6) 

 
6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 
 
6.2 Resolved: 
 

That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 
Members, to agree an open letter to the next Mayor of London concerning 
increasing provision of affordable homes for rent in London. 

 
 
7   Housing Committee: Legacy Report, 2012 - 2016 (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 

 

That the report be noted. 

 

7.3 During the course of the meeting, Nicky Gavron AM, on behalf of the Committee, proposed a 

vote of thanks to the Chair for his work during the Assembly Year. 

 
 
8   Date of Next Meeting (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Chair explained that the London Assembly’s Annual Meeting, due to take place on 

Friday, 13 May 2016, would decide which committees to establish for the 2016/17 Assembly 

Year and a timetable of meetings for those committees.  

 
 
9   Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent (Item 9) 

 

9.1 There were no items of business that the Chair considered to be urgent. 

 
 
10   Close of Meeting 

 

10.1 The meeting ended at 11.55 am. 

 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Housing Committee 

Tuesday 23 February 2016 

 

 
 

 
 
    

Chair   Date 
 
Contact Officer: Ed Wise, Committee Officer; Telephone: 020 7983 4619; 

Email: ed.wise@london.gov.uk. 
 
 

Page 8



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Housing Committee – 23 February 2016 
 

Transcript of Item 5: Questions to the Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That brings us to today’s main item, which is a discussion concerning the Mayor’s 

performance against a number of his commitments on housing in London.  Can I welcome our guests: 

Ric Blakeway, Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property; David Lunts, Executive Director - Housing and 

Land, Greater London Authority (GLA); Pat Hayes, Executive Director - Regeneration and Housing at the 

London Borough of Ealing (LB Ealing); Neal Hudson, Associate Director of Residential Research at Savills; and 

Matt Downie, Director of Policy and External Affairs at Crisis.  Thank you all very much for being here today. 

 

Can I start with you, Ric?  The Mayor’s ambition is to see 42,000 affordable homes delivered between 2015 

and 2018.  So far just over 5,000 have been completed.  How is the next Mayor going to get more than 16,000 

new affordable homes built per year when we never achieved those kinds of figures even when we had 

significant grant levels to play with? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I do not think it is right to say that 

we never achieved those numbers.  As you will have seen, over the last eight years, some years have really 

significantly high levels of affordable housing delivery.  Last year, as you know, just over 18,000 units were 

recorded, the most since the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) records began in the 

early 1990s and we think the most going back to comparable records since 1981.  We have seen years with 

15,000 and we have seen years with 16,000. 

 

What you are right to say and to highlight, though, is this hockey stick nature of every investment round and 

this has been the case for decades now.  It was the case with the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA); it 

was the case with the Housing Corporation before it.  With the way in which the money is allocated by central 

Government, you always have a build-up to a crescendo or climax with a huge number of homes towards the 

end of the investment round.  Unsurprisingly, last year we saw a record of 18,000 and this year you will see 

significantly fewer because we are starting on the next investment round. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Can I just challenge you on this?  The Mayor says this as well: it is the most 

affordable homes in a year since 1981.  Of course, in 1981 the definition of an ‘affordable home’ was very 

different to the definition today.  Now the blend of affordable housing is much more towards things like part 

rent/part buy, which are cheaper to build, whereas in 1981 an ‘affordable home’ was essentially social housing.  

Let us be honest about this.  The definition has changed, has it not? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  The definition has broadened.  

Social rent as a product has not been switched off, but the definition has clearly broadened to include other 

affordable products.  It is partly reflecting changes in the world we live in and in the city we live in.  There are 

many people now who are finding meeting housing costs increasingly challenging.  They would not necessarily 

be a priority on a waiting list and are not necessarily at risk of unintentional homelessness, but they still 

struggling with housing costs.  In the 1980s you had the introduction of intermediate housing -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That was a good thing, yes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  -- which was a good thing.  I think 

that was what you were referring to. 

Page 9



 

 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Yes, exactly. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It was the addition of that product, 

which was around in the 1980s.  I do not think it was around in 1981 but it was definitely around in the late 

1980s. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  It was the very end of the 1970s when it was brought in. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Great: it did exist then and so it 

would have been counted in those numbers. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Yes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  You have disagreed with your own 

question. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  No, it existed -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes, and so it would have to be -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  -- but not to the same extent that it does now.  We are now seeing much more -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, you are not.  This is very 

interesting, Tom.  You are -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  -- and of course the definition, as you know, Ric, has been, as Bob Kerslake 

[Lord Kerslake, former Permanent Secretary, DCLG] said, broadened beyond what is reasonable in terms of 

Starter Homes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Tom, I agree -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Good. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Sorry, I will let you finish your 

question.  I agree that there are additional products.  There is merit in those products. 

 

However, I will tell you why it would be completely wrong to characterise the last few years as solely focusing 

on intermediate housing at the expense of rented housing.  I was really struck by the figures when I asked for a 

breakdown by affordable tenure since the GLA was set up.  I was really struck that in 2005/06 there was 48% 

rent and 52% - the majority - was intermediate housing.  That was 2005/06, well before the kind of analysis 

that you are doing. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  You have said social rent has not been switched off but it almost feels like it is on 

life support at the moment, particularly given the legislative changes that the Government is making.  By 2018, 

realistically, how many social rented homes do you think we will be delivering in London? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I have two observations.  The first 

is that you are absolutely right to say that the Government has prioritised products like shared ownership and 

Page 10



 

 

things like that and, clearly, a substantial amount of the funding that we secure through the Spending Review 

will be for that.  However, it is wrong to say that there will be no rented product coming forward.  It is also, as 

my second point -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Do you think Affordable Rent will take a big hit? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  That is my second point.  You will 

still see Affordable Rent being delivered, but it is wrong to characterise Affordable Rent simply at 80% of the 

market and all of that.  We know that it is a far more flexible product.  We know that the blend in the 2011-15 

programme is 65%.  We aim for the same now.  You see many homes delivered under the ‘Affordable Rent’ 

banner that are closer to target rent. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Can I bring Neal in now?  How do you think the next Mayor can achieve 16,000 

affordable homes a year? 

 

Neal Hudson (Associate Director, Residential Research, Savills):  It clearly looks like a challenging 

situation and the hockey stick point is a very important one.  The exact distribution of funding and hence 

delivery through the period will be of great relevance.  Probably the biggest challenge is just the uncertainty 

that is currently being created at a central Government level where we are seeing a shift towards a preference 

for home ownership products and particularly the lack of clarity so far with things like Starter Homes and the 

need to deliver, as I said, a proportion of Starter Homes on a reasonably sized site.  The wider housebuilding 

industry has a lot of outstanding questions around Starter Homes in particular and also as to how they will 

interact with affordable housing and private tenure delivery.  That will create a situation where there is a 

massive uncertainty in the sector about where delivery can possibly go.  That makes it quite a challenging 

position to be in. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Coming back to you, Ric: in December the Housing Investment Group agreed to 

formally review the 2015-18 target.  Is your legacy to the next Mayor the advice that they need to revise down 

their affordable housing target? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No.  Quite clearly, substantially 

more than 42,000 affordable homes should be delivered over the next mayoralty. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Do you think that that is realistic? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes.  You have seen, effectively, a 

doubling of the housing budget through the Spending Review and certainly the analysis we are doing and the 

dialogue we are having with the Government will see substantially more than 42,000 delivered over the lifetime 

of the Spending Review. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Do you think it is reasonable to define a Starter Home as an ‘affordable home’, 

which is what the Government is doing? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is reasonable to wait for the 

definition of Starter Homes to be published and the Government will do a consultation shortly. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We have the definition, do we not?  It is homes costing up to £450,000 in London. 

 

Page 11



 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes, but again I would not take it 

to the extremities.  There is absolutely no reason why we should not see a substantial number of Starter Homes 

delivered at lower values than that.  When you look at things like shared ownership, typically you are seeing 

shared ownership prices at about £280,000 or £300,000.  Whereas people will always refer to the extremely 

expensive and much more expensive shared ownership homes, it is distorting that product, it is undermining its 

value and it is not a fair reflection of the range of values that are delivered through these products. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  These are homes that under the definition the Government has put out there can 

be sold at market value after five years.  Do you think that Starter Homes, really, if the Government is putting 

in a subsidy, which it is, should be affordable in perpetuity? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Clearly, that is a discussion point 

and a point that many people have raised at the moment.  We need to see what the consultation says. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  It seems to me that what the Government is doing with the Housing and Planning 

Bill - which obviously has not gone through yet and may be subjected to substantial changes in the House of 

Lords  does not make it easier for us to deliver the level of housing or indeed affordable housing that we need 

in London.  What would you like to see changed about the Housing and Planning Bill? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I am not sure that I agree with the 

analysis, Tom.  A combination of commitments and the amendment to the Bill around high-value council house 

sales, which should see two-for-one being delivered; combine that with the Spending Review, where there 

were substantial -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Not like-for-like.  This is the issue: you will be getting family homes at council 

rents in Islington sold and replaced with Starter Homes in Merton, potentially, under this Bill. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  That would not be the approach 

that we would take.  Clearly, it will be an issue for the next mayoralty, but it is not the approach that we would 

take. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  It is what is within the realms of possibility, though, is it not?  You can say to a 

local authority, “You need to be replacing these two-for-one”, but if it turns out that the funding it gets from 

the sales is quite simply not enough to replace these homes like-for-like, then there is nothing that the local 

authority can do about it unless there is a magic pot of money that opens up somewhere. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  That is the key point that you have 

made.  What proportion of the receipts from high-value council house sales can fund a programme of 

delivering extra affordable homes?  Certainly the analysis we have done is that you should be able to deliver a 

mix of product.  The legislation and the way it is worded enables that. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Is it a matter of regret to you that the Government has not conceded to one of the 

Mayor’s demands that I think we all agree on, which is that the borrowing cap for local authorities should be 

lifted? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  They did lift it.  They provided -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Removed, I should say.  Sorry, being removed. 

 

Page 12



 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  They provided an additional 

£300 million for local authorities to bid for.  Look, I think -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  You and I both know that there is £2.9 billion available potentially if that cap is 

lifted altogether. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  As you and I know, over the last 

few years we saw substantial reform to the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) led by the Coalition 

Government -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Started by John Healey [MP, former Minister of State for Housing and Planning], I 

would add. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes, as I was about to say, 

following the work of the previous Government.  Even that demonstrated under neither the 

Coalition Government nor the previous Government there was clearly - this is non-political, almost - a view 

within Government that the borrowing cap should not be removed. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We were having a discussion at our pre-meeting and I wondered if you could clarify 

for us, how do you define a ‘completion’ when an affordable home is completed?  At what deemed is it 

deemed to be complete? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  David [Lunts] can give you the full 

definition, but we use the same definition that the HCA and the Housing Corporation used and so it is a 

consistent measure.  It means that it is practically complete, which basically means you can move in and you 

can live in it.  That is a good definition: habitable. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  You have not handed over the keys but you can hand over the keys.  Is that the 

definition? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  They are handed over 

simultaneously. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Simultaneously?  There is no delay whatsoever?  Fantastic. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We hope not! 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):    What is your advice to the next Mayor as to how they can incentivise the private 

sector to build the homes that we need? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  This is more “what is my advice to 

the next Mayor” than “what is the Mayor’s record”, is it not? 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We want to hear what you think the next Mayor can do to dig us out of the mess 

that this current Mayor has gotten us into. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Well!  I think we could contest 

that! 

 

Page 13



 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  No, stick to the question! 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I will rise above that comment.  In 

terms of incentivising the sector to build more, firstly, it is important to look at where we are now.  I am really 

struck at the volume of activity that is taking place at the moment.  Last year we had, the Office for National 

Statistics (ONS) has said, a record in terms of construction orders placed. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  These are registrations, do you mean? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, the ONS was saying the 

construction orders volume is just under £6 billion.  You have the National House Building Council , as you 

said, which a couple of years ago recorded a huge volume of registrations - I think a record - their records 

started in 1990 in terms of registrations.  It does not register everything, but that was a record for them.  

Molior has a record number of starts.  We have a record number of permits at the moment.  When this Mayor 

came into office, there were something like 170,000 homes consented; today there are 260,000 homes 

consented.  There is a huge -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  You cannot live in a permit.  This is the problem. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, but it is really important.  If 

you are asking what is going to happen in the future, in the next year or in the next four years, it is really 

important to recognise that the industry at the moment is pushing itself and - this is incredibly important - 

there is a lot permitted.  Being able to continue that work is important, but then addressing some of the issues 

that might hold it back.  Issues, for example, include the amount of labour, the inflation and construction 

costs, all of those kinds of things that could hold the private sector back. 

 

To incentivise them to do more, I am a strong believer in the work that we have done around regeneration and 

looking at how we take our investment money and use it more intelligently to try to do things that are a little 

bit more long term.  I am referring specifically to the Housing Zone work where you are seeing flexible funding 

that could be recycled in an area and could unlock sites that traditional grant funding would not necessarily 

unlock where maybe we need to put in the infrastructure to unlock that place.  We have in Ealing, for example, 

the Southall Housing Zone.  We have another 19 across London and we will designate some more soon.  That 

approach is really important for making sure that the public sector is working to enable the private sector to 

deliver more homes. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  The thing is that we have had permissions vastly exceeding completion figures for 

years and years.  It is not anything new.  I think I am right in saying that there are 200,000 homes in London 

with planning permission. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There are 260,000. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That is not a good sign -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  No, exactly. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It means that there are more not being built. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Well, no, it -- 

 

Page 14



 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It does.  It means that there are more not being built. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Exactly. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, Nicky.  That is one 

interpretation.   We have highlighted the volume of consents versus delivery.  Look: come on.  You are always 

going to have more homes consented than are currently being completed.  You always will -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You have just made the point that there were -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Nicky, it is really important to 

emphasise that within that -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It is – 80,000 fewer. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, Nicky, it is really important to 

emphasise that within that 260,000 about a third are on strategic sites, big multiphase sites.  There is 

construction happening; they are just vast sites that will take years.  It is really important to think about the 

mix of products there and the mix of developers there that could accelerate that. 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  I wanted to come in on the Housing [and Planning] Bill because there is a huge amount of 

concern amongst all sorts of people, amongst campaign groups and local groups because there is some quite 

unpleasant stuff in there.  The next Mayor is going to have to deal with this.  You could even be the next 

Mayor’s housing adviser still and so you are going to have to deal with it.  Have you made any representations 

to the Government about the worst aspects of this Bill? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We have had an extensive dialogue 

with the Government about how we really drive some of the measures within the Bill for the benefit of London 

and we have had exhaustive, extensive discussions about it. 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  For example, there are things like the money from the sales going to the Treasury and then 

councils not getting the money back until they have actually built the houses.  That puts huge pressure on the 

councils.  That is exactly the sort of thing that really should not be happening and it just looks as if it is a 

financial grab by the Treasury.  Is that the sort of thing that you might comment on? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There is quite a lot of detail still to 

work through on this and obviously we have -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  One of the problems is it is not on the face of the Bill. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I accept the point, although not 

everything would necessarily be on the face of the Bill, either: this is enabling legislation. 

 

We have obviously spent a tremendous amount of time talking to the Government about how Right to Buy  

operates in the capital.  Clearly, section 70 of the Bill enables arrangements to be made with local authorities 

that will see them keep a proportion of the receipts and then deliver additional affordable homes.  The 

backstop is the GLA and that currently is the case.  With extended Right to Buy at the moment, if a local 

authority is unable to commit the resources within a three-year period, then the money comes to the GLA; it 

does not go to the Treasury. 

Page 15



 

 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  The thing is that you and the next Mayor are going to have to deal with the fallout from 

this Bill and so the more you can make it acceptable -- there are some very harsh elements to it that I will not 

bother going into.  I have lost track of the meetings that I have been invited or I have attended over this.  

There is a huge amount of concern and it is not going to go away without some sort of real gesture from the 

Mayor about perhaps trying to ameliorate it. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Obviously, I would disagree that 

the Bill is wholly negative.  There are real opportunities within -- 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  I did not say that.  I think it but I did not say that. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  OK.  I am sorry to misquote you 

and misrepresent your view.  There are real opportunities within that Bill and there is not a day that goes by 

without us here at the GLA talking about it and talking to the Government about it. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  The thing is, Ric - and I am not exaggerating here - I have not spoken to or heard 

of a single expert in the field of housing, anywhere, who thinks that the Housing Bill as a whole is going to do 

more good harm, not a single person.  Why are they all wrong and you are right? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Tom, with respect, I suspect that 

you are seeking out some negative views on the Bill -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  No, I talk to people across the board in the role that I do here. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes.  There are some real 

opportunities within that Bill.  Some of the measures that I would hope that you would welcome around 

tackling rogue landlords are really positive -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That is one element, which is welcome.  It does not go far enough but it is one 

element that is welcome. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  The measures in there that 

strengthen the compulsory purchase order  process are really welcome.  The measures in there that enable 

more public land to be brought forward in a co-ordinated way are really welcome.  There has been an 

amendment to the Bill that means an additional two affordable homes will be built for every high-value council 

house sale, which is a really positive thing for London. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  It is utterly toothless.  It is not enforceable.  It is an aspiration and of course, as I 

said before, it is not like-for-like.  Again, the definition of ‘affordable housing’, which is already stretched, has 

been stretched again further. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is not the Mayor’s Bill, by the 

way.  The questioning is meant to be about the policy and the Mayor’s programmes -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  I know that it is not the Mayor’s Bill, but the Mayor has voted for it and has put his 

seal of approval on it even though it did not meet his ‘red lines’.  I have every confidence that Jenny and her 

colleagues in the [House of] Lords will -- 

 

Page 16



 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  We will fight this. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  -- improve it - even though it is different to improve something so terrible - and 

will make it a better Bill than it was when it went in. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I just want to ask Ric: you talked about the redefinition or definition of ‘affordable 

housing’ and we just mentioned it being stretched.  This is going back to some of your answers to Tom a little 

bit earlier in this investigation.  You talked about a consultation.  Flowing from the Housing and Planning Bill, 

there was a consultation on the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and on the new definition of 

‘affordable housing’ to include these new products, which closed yesterday.  Did you put in any [response] to 

that? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes.  Our Planning colleagues will 

have been working on that. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Will it be made public? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I would have to check with our 

Planning colleagues about that.  I do not know.  I will check. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  It would be good to get that. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I would be surprised if it was not.  I 

assume so, but I will check with Planning. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It would be very good if we could see that. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  OK. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  The second thing - and this is something that I am sure you are involved with, which is 

part of that - is that it talks about the definition and it keeps the definition that it has to be for those 

households whose needs are not met by the market.  It lists the products and of course it goes over what we all 

know, which is that new products are going to be put into the ‘affordable housing’ category, not just 

Starter Homes but other products that could be created, and so it opens the door to new kinds of tenures 

being brought in, which may be good; we do not know. 

 

On Starter Homes, could you just tell me what your understanding is of the eligibility for a Starter Home? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I have two comments.  If I may just 

go back, bringing in additional products - which, as Tom highlighted, is something that has been happening 

for a generation now - is not the wrong thing to do.  It is important -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  No, I said that it could be all right. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  In terms of eligibility for Starter 

Homes, the Government set out in its manifesto what it thought the eligibility criteria should be.  It was keen 

not to restrict the market substantially.  We have to see the consultation. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  What are they?  What are the eligibility -- 

Page 17



 

 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  They are pretty limited actually in 

terms of -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Anyone under 40, I think. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Just under 40? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Correct. 

 

Neal Hudson (Associate Director, Residential Research, Savills):   It is first-time buyers under the age of 

40. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  First-time buyers under the age of 40.  Thank you. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  You have to wait for the 

consultation and let us see what is in there. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  This is the consultation.  We have had it. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, sorry, there is a consultation 

on Starter Homes and that product that will be published shortly. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Is it not rather cart-before-horse, then?  They are already altering the NPPF with the 

consultation that closed yesterday.  I do not quite understand.  Does anyone else understand how that is going 

to work? 

 

Neal Hudson (Associate Director, Residential Research, Savills):  I understand that we are expecting a 

further consultation specifically on Starter Homes to answer some of the questions in more detail, but I do not 

know anything more than that, I am afraid. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  The point about the Starter Homes, though - and you were quite generous in your 

comments about them - is that they can be to anyone of any income under 40.  How is one going to decide 

which under-40-year-olds are eligible? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Let us see what the consultation 

says.  At the moment, shared ownership is eligible to people either under 40 or over 40 as long as they are a 

first-time buyer and that system -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  There is an income threshold. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  There is a maximum income threshold, which is set in the London Plan. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  There are no income thresholds for Starter Homes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Sure, but you are also looking at 

households that are purchasing substantially below the kinds of income thresholds that are talked about.  

Page 18



 

 

Inevitably, these products calibrate themselves to a particular part of the market where, as you observe, their 

needs are not being met by the market. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Shelter has done research that says you would need an income of £79,000 to 

afford a Starter Home in London.  Come on, Ric.  That is basically at the threshold beneath which you cannot 

get a home on part rent/part buy.  Genuinely, do you think that is reasonable? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I have heard similar things referred 

to in relation to shared ownership where you need to be a millionaire or something to be able to purchase 

through shared ownership.  That is just simply wrong.  We know that last year the average household income 

was about £40,000 for those purchasing through shared ownership.  That is pretty much in line with average 

household incomes in the city.  I just really -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  It is the leading homelessness charity in the country that is saying this! 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, I have a huge amount of 

respect for Shelter, but also it is unfair to characterise these products through hypothetical extreme situations, 

which people have done with shared ownership and that is wholly wrong.  Shared ownership has enabled a 

huge number of people to build up equity in a high-value city like London, which they simply would not have 

been able to do otherwise. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  This is something that Lord Kerslake has said because he was running the DCLG 

when Starter Homes as an idea were created and he has been very clear: they were meant to be -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  He is the architect. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Indeed.  That makes what he says all the more pertinent because he says that they 

were meant to be additional homes for brownfield sites, sites that had to be decontaminated and things like 

that. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Exception sites, yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  He said that what they have become is nothing like what they were intended for.  

This is the architect of this product coming out and saying that the Government is completely wrong.  Should it 

[the Government] not be listening to him? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Let us look at one element of 

Starter Homes.  The Spending Review announced over £1 billion for land assembly to support Starter Homes.  

Realistically, you will see a high proportion of Starter Homes on those sites - we will have to see what - and 

you will also see a mix of other products on those sites.  The fact is that there are substantial sums available - 

and London will receive a share - to assemble land and to try to unlock that.  Returning to one of your other 

questions on what the big barriers and big challenges are coming up, clearly access to land is one of those. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Absolutely. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  The fact that the Government has 

announced funding for Starter Homes, which will enable us to assemble sites for a mix of products including 

Starter Homes, is really positive and something that London should grab and turn into an opportunity. 

 

Page 19



 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We shall see but I am not optimistic.  

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Regarding the Starter Homes, in the NPPF consultation, there is an equalities question, 

which says in the preamble that there is a concern that in fact some of the more traditional products will be 

squeezed out by Starter Homes.  That is actually in the document and there is a question on it.  It is a good 

thing that there is a question on it, but did you respond to that question? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Our Planning colleagues will 

respond to that question. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Would you not have -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We are here for a housing 

discussion on the Mayor’s policies.  We are now in a planning discussion about the Government’s policies.  I 

would say -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That affects what the next Mayor can do and this is one of the things that we are 

looking at. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is what the title of the session is, 

Tom. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Housing and planning are like love and marriage! 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes, absolutely.  It is wrong, again, 

to say that only one type of affordable product will be delivered in this city in the coming years.  It is quite 

clear that we are going to see Starter Homes alongside shared ownership, a traditional intermediate product 

that has been around for years, and alongside Affordable Rent. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Do you agree that social rented housing, for instance, which is the traditional product 

because it was there before Affordable Rent and it was there before Shared Ownership, is being and will be 

even more squeezed out? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  That will continue to be delivered  

-- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Will it continue to be squeezed out? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It will continue to be delivered 

but -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  At what levels? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  -- it is wrong to dismiss the 

benefits that Affordable Rent has and not to recognise that Affordable Rent is a very flexible product that can 

deliver at close to target rents. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can I just ask you, Pat?  Are you seeing social rented [provision] squeezed out?  Do you 

think it is going to be affected by Starter Homes being included in the ‘affordable’ category? 

Page 20



 

 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  The issue with Starter Homes 

is that it will clearly in most of London - not all, possibly - squeeze out a lot of other affordable products.  

Those Starter Homes will work in some outer London locations.  There are parts of our borough where you can 

see, yes, Starter Homes will be affordable.  Particularly in those locations where there is new development, 

they will not be affordable and they will squeeze out other types. 

 

We will continue probably through the HRA to build some social rented housing, but it will be relatively small-

scale.  In the long term, we probably have a Government that has set its stall fairly clearly.  It wishes to support 

and subsidise home ownership, which is logical and justifiable in certain areas and forms part of the mix, but it 

will affect our ability to deliver traditional social rent housing. 

 

Effectively, what the Housing and Planning Bill will mean is that there will be less Affordable Rent product 

delivered by housing associations as part of the development process, almost certainly.  Some of the other 

elements of the Bill will make it harder for us through our regeneration programme to deliver affordable and 

social rent products, etc, through estate regeneration because we will have less money in the HRA as a result 

of the 1% rent reduction for one, the sale of high-value assets again - which goes as a payment back to the 

Government, too - and some of the other factors. 

 

Overall, it will become increasingly difficult, although not impossible, to deliver social rent in the way that we 

have done it and possibly Affordable Rent and so we will see a hollowing-out of the affordable housing supply. 

 

There are some opportunities for us.  We will continue to develop rental housing at various price points and we 

will continue to use our borrowing potential, for example, to develop housing outside the HRA for market rent 

and discounted market rent. 

 

The other challenge for us will be through the planning process.  It is fair to say that traditionally over the last 

10 or 15 years most affordable housing in London has been delivered through the planning system.  The 

provisions of the Housing and Planning Bill will make that much harder given the costs and viability in London.  

Outside London it is an entirely different situation, which we need to be clear on.  Certainly my wish would be 

that we need to articulate much more clearly what London’s ask is around affordable housing in London.  At 

the moment we have a national policy, which works in places like Derby to a degree because the market rent in 

Derby and the council rent are about the same, you can get a council house fairly quickly if you want one and 

most people on average salaries can afford to buy.  In London that is not the case.  The important figure for us 

certainly in west London is the entry salary or family income that you need to be able to enter the housing 

market, which is £75,000 plus, when an average property at the lower end of the market is around £450,000 or 

£500,000. 

 

Another concern for us is that market rent, which we have encouraged and promoted as an alternative, is 

becoming increasingly unaffordable as well because of the difficulty of getting mortgage finance and because 

of increases in the retail housing sale market.  This is really pushing London into quite a difficult place in terms 

of where new entrants in the London housing market go. 

 

Shared ownership is popular at acquisition but, as we all know, shared ownership tenants are the least happy of 

any tenants because they pay higher service charges and very few of them are accumulating a real equity stake 

and staircasing out.  The Housing and Planning Bill will put pressure on shared ownership as well. 

 

There are opportunities for us, but they will require the Government to do some different things and to give 

the Mayor some additional powers.  Again, the Mayor should be seeking the power to say, “We have to retain 

Page 21



 

 

all the money in high-value sales and Right to Buy sales within London”.  There has to be some additional cash 

that goes in and helps us because we struggle on land values certainly in west London to deliver one-for-one 

replacement on Right to Buy sales.  The chance of us doing two-for-one in London is absolutely remote unless 

other changes are made.  You can make changes to the planning system.  You could have a use class for rental 

housing, for example, which would depress land values and enable us to buy land at a more reasonable cost.  

You could do in that respect -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We will return to that later in the meeting, yes. 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  There are other things that 

one could do to a degree.  There is obviously a lot of talk about public land and the availability of public land, 

but clearly a lot of that is still in use for operational reasons and a lot of it is constrained.  We have a lot of land 

and most of it is Green Belt or Metropolitan Open Land and golf courses.  Increasing that land supply is 

difficult for us in terms of where we would build the homes if we had the money to do it.  The pressure around 

affordable housing delivery, even if one has a fairly broad definition of ‘affordable’, is quite considerable now 

and -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Are we saying that the days of building relatively large-scale council estates of 

family-sized homes, which I was brought up on, which is why I have an interest -- 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  Me, too. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  -- for example The New Addington [Estate]; mine was the Bellingham Estate, which 

were built in the 1930s and 1940s.  For the reasons you said and relatively brief answers: are those days over? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  Actually, they ended many 

years ago.  Over the last few years, we have been able to build more than we have done in the past due to the 

John Healey reforms that the Coalition carried on and freeing up the HRA.  We have been able to build social 

rent accommodation in reasonable numbers -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Family-sized houses? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  Yes, we have built family-sized 

houses, but -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Social rent? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  Yes, social-rent family-sized 

houses using the HRA.  That will become more difficult with some of the changes that I have alluded to, which 

is possible. 

 

The other thing that we are doing, which goes back to the historical role of municipal housing, is that using our 

housing company we are building good quality rental housing for those in work, which of course was the 

original purpose of a lot of the original municipal estates in the 1930s and 1940s.  They were to accommodate 

people in jobs who could not afford to buy in the then housing market.  We are doing that and we are using 

the general fund to do that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Thank you.  Ric, do you want to -- 

 

Page 22



 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is an important question, Steve.  

A decade ago you were Deputy Mayor, Nicky, I think.  Were you Deputy Mayor in 2005/06? 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I was. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  You were; the same year that a 

minority of social rent was delivered in London.  Anyhow, back in -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can I -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Back in 2005/06, 18% of London’s 

completions were three-bed plus.  That is all tenures.  In 2014/15, the last year we have full figures for, it was 

28%. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Social rent or affordable? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, this is all tenures.  It is a really 

positive thing how the planning system and what you are seeing coming forward is a significant growth in the 

proportion of larger units.  Within the affordable housing, we have continued to really press for a substantial 

amount of three-bed or larger affordable homes to be delivered and we did about 36% in the last programme, 

over a third, which is not a bad outcome.  It is challenging and it is challenging for a whole range of reasons, 

the cost of development and the cost of land, but it is possible and it has been something that has been 

demonstrated to be possible.  Personally, I think it is really positive that ten years on from the doldrums of 

18% we are now up to 28%. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Lastly on this, I am less interested in £2 million four-bedroom houses as a target.  I am 

more interested in potentially building family-sized social rent.  That is the first question, which is something 

that I would like to pursue perhaps later in the next term. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It was an issue about completion figures and I just wondered,  given that the Mayor 

and the Deputy Mayor were very proud of having achieved such a high completion figure by 31 March last 

year, there was clearly a lot of political and financial pressure to hit that target on 31 March and to get these 

schemes complete. 

 

Could I have an assurance from David?  If I had gone around and visited every single one of these 18,614 

properties on 1 April, would I have really found homes ready for people to move into?  One has heard rumours 

that waivers may have been signed on properties that were not entirely finished in order to hit that deadline. 

 

David Lunts (Executive Director - Housing and Land, GLA):  We define ‘completion’ as homes that are 

ready for occupation and they will normally have a completion certificate.  We do make exemptions or have 

waivers in certain cases where, for instance, there are issues possibly with utility companies or external 

landscaping still needs to be finished off.  However, in the overwhelming majority of cases, they will be ready 

for occupation and indeed, in most cases, will be occupied. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Was there an unusual number of waivers? 

 

David Lunts (Executive Director - Housing and Land, GLA):  There were a larger number of waivers than 

usual, but then that is set against a very large level of completions. 

 

Page 23



 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Proportionally, though? 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Proportionally? 

 

David Lunts (Executive Director - Housing and Land, GLA):  I do not have the exact numbers to hand. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Can we get them?  Can we get those numbers?  Is that possible? 

 

David Lunts (Executive Director - Housing and Land, GLA):  Yes, we could certainly do that. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Excellent. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Thank you. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That would be good. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  As Ric mentioned 2005/06, I just want to say that you have taken one year and you have 

made the case very cogently, but one year is just a snapshot and so it depends which year you take and what 

the proportions are. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I am happy to take eight [years].  

Do you want the figures?  Do you want the figures for eight [years], Nicky?  Let us look at eight years. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  No.  The other thing that I want to say is that when we came in in 2000 the household 

projections were for smaller householders and then there was a shift in the household projections towards the 

need for more family housing because London’s families were even larger than in the rest of the country.  

There was a shift in policy towards larger homes, which you inherited or the Mayor inherited in 2008.  My 

observation has been that if we say “three-bed plus”, we get three-bed and we do not get enough of the plus.  

One of the big needs is for four and even five-bed homes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Just in response, Nicky, the latest 

Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA) showed that there was a real need around smaller units rather 

than necessarily family-sized units.  Notwithstanding that, given what we know outside the SHMA, we have 

continued to try to press for that.  I know, for example, that we did an initiative with Croydon that was looking 

at trying to deliver very large - I think five-bed - social rented units. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  This is for Ric in the first instance.  One of the things I asked a head teacher in Hackney 

a couple of years ago was about the biggest difference any policy from the GLA could make to the children in 

her primary school.  She said, “Getting on top of the issue of overcrowding”.  She had pupils who were several 

children to a room and it was basically meaning that they were not achieving what they could do at school.  

She took it from a very theoretical and statistical context to the very real context that there was for the 

children she had in her care. 

 

I just wondered if you could explain why you think you have missed the target on overcrowding and what steps 

you took to meet the target and what went wrong. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  That is a really fair question.  One 

of the things that this mayoralty sought to do was to highlight the challenge around overcrowding.  We 

Page 24



 

 

completely agree with the impact that that can have on people’s health, educational attainment and so on.  It 

is a real issue. 

 

We set an incredibly challenging target to try to halve severe overcrowding within social housing.  At one point 

about two years ago we did halve it and it has now crept back up again.  It is now broadly where it was.  It is 

about 3% at the moment.  I am disappointed in that, but that was not through a lack of trying and we tried a 

whole range of things: prioritising larger units through our programme, trying to get chain lettings and trying 

to get more mobility within housing.  As you know, we prioritised overcrowded households as part of 

Housing Moves.  We have done extensions and conversions.  We have tried a whole range of things, but it is a 

big issue.  In the timeframe it was not possible to meet that target, but it should still be a priority. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Was there anything in that that could explain why it did fall?  Was it any of those 

measures?  Which ones actually worked? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I will take it away and we need to 

look at it in more detail.  It would be such a range of different factors.  It would be really difficult to analyse 

and highlight one particular factor because so often you are dealing with individuals and individual households 

and lots of different things will change within their lives.  I will take it away and have a look at it. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Do you think it was partly an over-reliance on the ‘bedroom tax’ [Spare Room 

Subsidy]?  The intention of the ‘bedroom tax’ was obviously to free up some of the larger properties.  Was 

there an over-reliance on that as a mechanism for freeing up some of the accommodation? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  The Spare Room Subsidy did not 

apply to households over 60, I think I am right to say, where we probably have the highest level of under-

occupation.  I do not think -- 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  It was --, yes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  -- we were ever thinking of it in 

those terms because you have -- 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  That was the intention of the policy from the Government to free up those properties. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Look, what we were focused on 

were extensions, conversions and the mobility work that we have done - we have had real success to get the 

buy-in of pretty much every borough in London to Housing Moves; they volunteered to be part of that and 

that is a really positive thing - as well as focusing on delivering larger units within our programmes. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  What levers does a future Mayor have or need to have to make a real impact on this 

problem, do you think? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  They do not necessarily have all of 

the levers.  That is just the reality.  However, trying to focus on the delivery of larger units is one thing directly 

within the Mayor’s control.  It is hard but it is achievable.  I guess the second thing is what can be done in 

partnership with local authorities around promoting and boosting the mobility schemes that exist but clearly 

could grow, but that would have to be an agreement between the Mayor and the boroughs. 

 

Page 25



 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Does anybody else have anything they would like to highlight about overcrowding and 

how it could be tackled by the Mayor or what has gone wrong? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  One of the points I would say 

is that we are in danger at the moment through the permitted development (PD) conversion of lots of office 

buildings of creating more overcrowded accommodation because what the PD developers are now doing is 

looking to convert office blocks into what they call ‘studios’, which are in fact tiny flats.  You know full well 

that these will not be occupied by single individuals and it would actually be undesirable if they were.  We are 

creating through the planning system potentially a worse overcrowding problem in the private rented sector in 

the future.  Again, that is another where London needs an exemption from the PD conversion of office 

buildings as we are getting a lot of substandard accommodation being built, which will add to the existing 

overcrowding problem.  There is already a big overcrowding problem within the private owner sector let alone 

the private rented sector.  There are lots of people on above-average salaries with two children living in 

overcrowded flats and they cannot afford to buy anything larger now in London. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Are you seeing any trends in overcrowding in your housing stock in Ealing and what do 

you think the picture is going to look like in a few years’ time? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  The position certainly in the 

private sector stock - both in the owned stock and in the rented stock - is that overcrowding is clearly 

increasing.  The council stock about stays the same but, again, our turnover is now so low.  Understandably, 

people do not give up a council flat unless they die, effectively; some is obviously sold. 

 

The ‘bedroom tax’ had very little impact in terms of encouraging people to move.  We have had success at a 

small scale with new developments, which have been specifically designed and where the affordable housing is 

designed for over-55s to move, and people have freed up larger accommodation.  However, that is a drop in 

the ocean in terms of the overall demand for that type of housing. 

 

The pressure will increase.  Some of the benefit changes that have moved people out of central London have 

also pushed more people with families out, again, into smaller accommodation in outer London.  Our 

overcrowding pressures continue.  I cannot actually see a lever that could be pulled that would stop that at the 

moment without much more drastic interventions at the macroeconomic level. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  We are moving the subject now towards rough sleeping and homelessness.  I know 

Matt, Pat [Hayes] and others will probably have some comments and also Ric [Blakeway]. 

 

First of all, turning to rough sleeping, we will be aware that the Mayor has had two strategies around this.  The 

first one dated back to No Second Night Out and then moved on, in essence, to No First Night Out on the 

streets.  However, from the figures I have in front of me, rough sleeping has increased with a further 16% or 

7,500 people from the last figures we have from 2014/15.  Clearly, there is an issue here. 

 

First of all, I would like probably Matt’s comments around what more can be done and then we will investigate 

that across others and with Pat. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  The first thing to say is to acknowledge 

the success of No Second Night Out in terms of picking up new rough-sleepers and them not becoming 

entrenched rough-sleepers.  That is a thing to note. 

Page 26



 

 

 

The No First Night Out initiative is exactly right in the principle that it is about prevention, but that system is 

entirely inhibited by the fact that local boroughs are disincentivised.  Effectively, the way in which the system 

works is that it almost ensures that only the most serious cases of particularly single homelessness will ever be 

catered for by a local council because of the priority needs system. 

 

As alluded to in some of the paperwork, in Wales we have a system now where there is a duty to prevent 

homelessness, regardless of who you are. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It broadens the criteria? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  It does and it really matters for No First 

Night Out.  Almost 50% of people in No Second Night Out hubs have presented at their local council and have 

been turned away.  We are investing in a system that warehouses and sometimes sends people back to local 

councils and they are then referred back to a No Second Night Out hub.  That is not a good situation.  It is a 

merry-go-round. 

 

On top of all of that good stuff, it is worth standing back for a second and looking at the scale of the situation 

and also the evidence base as to what works with this cohort of people. 

 

Yes, we are seeing a mass increase in rough sleeping.  All forms of homelessness are going up and rough 

sleeping is going up very fast. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I would like to investigate that and the reasons why as well. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  Yes.  In terms of what can be done, the 

international evidence is pretty clear now that the only approach that has a transformative effect on 

rough-sleeping populations is something called Housing First, which has been taken to scale in some countries 

in Europe, in a lot of cities in Europe and in a lot of cities in North America, Japan and Australia.  Effectively, 

what it says is that the way in which you help people end their homelessness and resolve the issues that were 

behind their homelessness is to get them housed first.  Surprise, surprise: the solution to homelessness is 

housing -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Putting people in homes, yes. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  -- but this is not about mass housing 

supply.  It is about maybe 1,000, 2,000 or 3,000 units for the entire city.  The Mayor of New York has just 

announced 15,000 Housing First units.  We have had cities across Europe, as I said, transform this problem 

with this approach.  What it means is that once you get people into accommodation, you do not require them 

to have to give up drugs or alcohol and you do not require them to have to comply with a whole range of other 

things that they would have to comply with in a hostel.  You get someone in a tenancy and - surprise, surprise 

- their ability to cope with the issues that they are facing is transformed. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Put them in there and leave them to it? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  You do not leave them to it.  There is a 

support package that absolutely must be delivered.  In other countries the hostel providers, which were 

providing a warehousing dead-end solution to homelessness, are providing the support to get people in 

Page 27



 

 

sustained tenancies.  That is one thing that really needs to be taken to scale.  It is something that the evidence 

base shows is the only transformative solution out there. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  That will be applying a significant slice of the housing stock to that particular need and 

that particular client base? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  When you say “significant slice”, it is 

worth saying that, yes, rough sleeping has gone up but we are not dealing with tens or hundreds of thousands 

of people.  We are dealing with, in London, a few thousand people.  You can question the figures one way or 

another, but it is an entirely solvable problem. 

 

There was one other issue I wanted to come on to, though, which is migrant rough-sleeping.  It is worth saying 

that we are in a situation now where unfolding literally before our eyes is a human catastrophe.  We have a 

cohort of people who are totally ineligible for support and the leading approach taken with these people is to 

enforce against them.  There is a crazy situation that is unfolding around the North Circular where 

encampments of people are literally being chased from borough to borough.  Individual boroughs are paying 

hundreds of thousands of pounds to enforce against people who then just move to the next borough or they 

may be forcibly removed to their country of origin and then come back. 

 

This is not a way to approach the issue.  Other countries, again, lead the way in terms of how they deal with 

this.  There are practical things you can do to responsibly reconnect people -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, but it is quite a new phenomenon with the numbers.  We are going a bit off the 

track at the moment but -- 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  We are, but I just wanted to make sure 

that we have a distinguished approach to these. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Yes, I take your point. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  There are different cohorts of people and 

we are at risk at the moment of saying, “The lived experience of homelessness is different for a migrant rough-

sleeper and so let us deal with it differently”.  Of course it is not.  You just need different solutions to resolve 

the issue. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I get that completely.  I want to bring Pat in because he can talk about the experience 

of Ealing.  I want to also drill down a bit about the increase in the numbers of what is quite inanely called 

‘returners’ and ‘stock’ - you are hopefully preventing those first-timers and doing some work around those - 

and those unfortunate people who are returning and are constantly going back to the streets for whatever 

reason.  Pat, do you want to add to the debate? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  Yes.  It is really important to 

delineate the various groups that we are talking about here. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Exactly, yes. 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  At one end you have what I 

suppose you would call your ‘traditional’ rough-sleeper who probably has drink or alcohol problems.  Even in 

our borough, which has a population of 350,000-odd, it is 10 or 15 people. 

Page 28



 

 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  That is a small number, yes. 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  We deal with those through a 

specialist housing association that provides support and we attempt to get them off the street and into 

housing. 

 

We then have this second and increasing group - and we have always had it because of our proximity to the 

airport and the very broad ethnic mix of the borough - of people who are living rough.  They are not 

conventional rough-sleepers but they probably are recently arrived migrants and they have no recourse to 

public funds.  The Government response has been very much on enforcement. 

 

We had a case the other night of a woman who had been assaulted very violently by her partner.  We took the 

decision that we would house her temporarily, which was in breach of the regulations, effectively, because she 

is not supposed to have recourse to public funds.  It was a humanitarian gesture, effectively.  We could not 

leave her sleeping on the floor of the police station. 

 

Therefore, we have that group there as well, which is an increasing problem, and we need to decide how we are 

going to in outer London deal with that.  We are not enforcing against people in that instance but clearly -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  When I was the Cabinet Member for Public Protection in Croydon, the biggest London 

borough - the point you make is a good one - we just had a core of 20 or so people whom we supported and 

managed.  That is historic.  Now we have a whole new paradigm of rough sleeping and we have a whole new 

bunch of people coming in who are vulnerable in a different manner.  We could take that as an issue. 

 

Also, the debate, which I would be interested in your opinion on, is about broadening the definition of those 

whom councils are statutorily liable to look after.  At the moment in English law, it is purely those most 

vulnerable: young people, children, whoever.  Wales and Scotland, from my briefing, have changed their 

legislation to broaden it to, as I said at the beginning, those people whom, if presented to councils, the 

councils then have a statutory responsibility to help. 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  This is our fundamental 

problem, which is what I was going to come on to -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  You have two big things heading your way, potentially -- 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  No, we have three, actually. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Give us the third one. 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  The third one is the 2,000 

people virtually every night whom we have in temporary accommodation and whom we have accepted and 

have a statutory duty that we cannot avoid.  We have no stock to house them in and so we are housing them 

in temporary accommodation in one of the most expensive cities in the world.  With the benefit system, on 

average for each of those people, the benefit that they receive from the Government is £100 short in terms of 

the cost of accommodating them.  Our ratepayers and Council Tax payers are meeting for each of those people 

a £100 cost per week to house them. 

 

Page 29



 

 

At the moment we are now the meat in the sandwich because we have the Government changing the benefit 

rules and pushing more of these people on to us and reducing the benefit levels so that the benefit levels are 

more and more out of kilter with rent levels.  At the same time, we have various legal judgements saying that 

we cannot house these people outside the borough, etc.  We have a very limited supply of rental 

accommodation for some of the reasons we talked about earlier.  To add further duties on us without the 

finance to do that would cripple us.  That is the issue.  If you are going to widen local authorities’ 

homelessness duties, it has to come with a change in the benefit law certainly for London that recognises the 

genuine housing costs in London and it has to come with substantial investment from the Government to help 

us to do that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:   

Are you saying that you are not allowed to suggest that many of these young people and vulnerable people are 

housed outside London?  There were some stories - and I am not saying it is right, wrong or indifferent - that 

some London boroughs were encouraging the housing people up in the north of England where there is more 

stock and all of that sort of stuff. 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  Yes, we are housing people 

outside London and we are looking to acquire temporary accommodation outside London.  The issue there is 

that we can find better quality properties at cheaper prices.  What we attempt to make sure of is that we do 

not do this in places where the labour market is dead so that people can get jobs and can be reintegrated. 

 

We also have a duty to discharge people into the private rented sector.  Obviously, when we can enable people 

to go somewhere where there is a good chance of them getting a job - or at least a reasonable chance - and 

where they can get better quality, more affordable housing, then we do, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Without extending it because, if you were to house young and vulnerable people out 

in Hull, Newcastle and these wonderful places, they also have their own issues and they need looking after.  

You are shunting the social services care to another borough.  Matt, did you want to comment? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  Yes, just two quick points.  It is entirely 

right to say that families with children are far less likely to be placed out of borough but it is the case - and I 

am not saying that this happens at all in Pat’s [Hayes] borough - that people fight tooth-and-nail to prove a 

local connection to a borough only to be sent miles away from that borough.  There are horror stories of 

people particularly in the West Midlands arriving unbeknownst to Birmingham Council and being placed with 

the worst landlords, who have been paid incentives of up to £5,000 a time to take those households. 

 

I just wanted to say on the legislation that of course Pat is right that it is not affordable for local authorities to 

be thrown a whole set of new categories of people whom they must house.  The [briefing] paper we have is 

not quite right in terms of the Scottish and Welsh models. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I apologise. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  Scotland has removed the priority need 

categories.  Wales did not do that but introduced a duty to prevent homelessness so that those opportunities 

are not just for single people who are not getting housing but for families that actually might have a chance of 

avoiding the need for social housing or the full homelessness duty.  You can intervene with landlords; you can 

do all sorts of things that will mean it is far less costly.  Yes, of course local authorities will have to struggle, 

but what we have found is that the vast majority of local authorities in England are in favour of the Welsh 

model. 

Page 30



 

 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I am impinging a little bit on the next question but, Ric, can you address particularly 

the rough-sleeping issue that is heading the way of the next Mayor and the numbers and the stuff we have 

just heard about? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Clearly, it is a really important area.  

Notwithstanding the challenges around the numbers that you have highlighted, the team in the GLA with the 

work on rough-sleeping has done an absolutely amazing job about this.  I would like to think that London has 

one of the most co-ordinated responses to this now of any big global city.  That is not just my view; Tom, 

when you went to No Second Night Out, had a very positive view -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Very good, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I have heard that, yes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  As Matt [Downie] has highlighted, 

you cannot escape the fact that 70% of the increase you have referred to is non-United Kingdom (UK) 

nationals.  The reality there is that probably the most effective and sensible response is around voluntary 

reconnection.  We have sought to support the charities working around that with various schemes, Routes 

Home and other schemes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  This is for a non-UK national rough-sleeping, encouraging them to reconnect with 

their family in their parent country? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Correct.  Usually, that is the best 

outcome for the individual concerned. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I would have thought so. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  This is handled very sensitively and 

there are strong links between organisations working in the UK or working in London and those overseas as 

well.  I visited many years ago in the last mayoral term an initiative in Poland, which was linked up with Thames 

Reach. 

 

What the figures disguise and what should not be underestimated is that whilst the annual number of people 

on the streets is higher, the number of people sleeping on any given night - through No Second Night Out and 

the fact that now just under 80% of people will spend only a single night on the street - is very different to 

other cities around the world.  You will -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Ric, you are saying that there is less institutionalised rough-sleeping or ‘stock’? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes.  We have a real focus on 

stopping entrenchment -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It is a horrible word. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, but the -- 

 

Page 31



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It is not your word; it is the word in my briefing.  It is a horrible word and I do not like 

to use it and I will not again. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is really important to prevent 

that entrenchment.  People will stay ten days or longer on the streets and they will have a combination of 

mental health challenges, often drink and other issues that will make it harder to find a sustainable route off 

the street for those individuals.  Tackling that and stopping that has to remain a priority.  We are completely 

different to places like New York where 3,500 people a night sleep on the streets.  It has a smaller population 

than London but 3,500 people a night sleep out, whereas it is about 500 in London. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  They are not so good at solving that problem, yes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  If you go to Los Angeles, it is 

almost 12,000.  It is outrageous. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  It is huge, yes. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  Shocking. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is about 12,000 or 13,000.  It is 

very different.  Preventing entrenchment is important. 

 

I slightly disagree with Matt’s [Downie] view on Housing First being the solution for this.  We were very 

interested in the Housing First model.  We piloted it in London.  It was good, but some of the health issues are 

as important as the housing issues for many individuals here, particularly around mental health.  You need 

programmes to try to address that. 

 

Of all the things that we have been doing, whilst there has been a huge amount of attention on No Second 

Night Out and rightly so, there is the commissioning approach being taken with the Social Impact Bond.  It is 

one where you identify a clear cohort and then you have milestones set against different elements.  One will be 

housing but also health, employment and things like that.  It is about being really flexible with those services.  

We do not have a very rigid model for how those services should work; we just prescribe the outcome.  It is a 

far more flexible approach to the commissioning.  There is something in the Social Impact Bond that we are 

doing at the moment that could be expanded.  Indeed, we are looking at whether we could expand it.  Dealing 

with Steve’s different groups, our Social Impact Bond focuses on those people who are in the revolving door 

between the street and a hostel or other accommodation.  The opportunity for a Social Impact Bond focused 

on entrenched rough-sleepers is probably the next step and it would be really valuable. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  OK. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  Can I make one final point on that?  Just 

in terms of the best outcome for migrant rough-sleepers, there is virtually no evidence about what happens to 

people when they are reconnected.  It is a bit of a euphemism, really, because ‘reconnection’ sounds like 

somebody has found out who it is that you need to be in touch with and there is your family ready with open 

arms to accept you.  That is not what is happening.  It is people being put on flights, put in the back of a truck 

and taken up to Luton Airport --  

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  When you walk past people in Victoria Street who clearly do not have the English 

language, they are in a terrible state and are massively vulnerable and cannot -- 

Page 32



 

 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  Can I come to that point?  One of the 

things that we do at Crisis is, if there is somebody who is a migrant homeless person and they have an offer of 

a job or a job, we will guarantee their rent for them upon the sustainability of that work because, quite 

obviously, the vast majority of people who come here to work get work.  For those who fall out of the system 

and need that guarantee of that support, it really works.  We find that we do not have to dip into that pot 

because people’s work is sustained.  That tells you that forced reconnection home is not the only option for 

people. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  I do not want to extend this, but the cohort I am talking about perhaps is that 

vulnerable person who is sleeping very rough on Victoria Street, who cannot speak English and who is, 

therefore, vulnerable from all sorts of angles.  Surely at one simple level - and I am a simple person - it would 

be better for that gentleman to go back to his country and to be around people he can communicate with and 

try to get support there.  That would be more logical. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  In some cases, yes, but unless you 

investigate exactly what that situation is, it could be somebody who was trafficked or it could be somebody 

whose employment has been illegal here.  It is not -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It is complicated. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  You cannot have one -- 

 

Steve O’Connell AM:  It is complex.  Thank you, Chair.  That was worth exploring.  

 

Jenny Jones AM:  I had better declare that I have volunteered for the Simon Community for the past 20 

years.  I used to go every week and I had a morning tea run.  Latterly it has gone down to something like once 

a month.  There very clearly - this is all anecdotal--, obviously - you see changes in the format of the people 

who are homeless.  Whereas a few years ago they all became younger and more foreign and so on, now I see 

more and more 20-to-40-year-olds.  It is actually people of working age. 

 

I just wondered.  You presumably keep records of age, gender, ethnicity and so on about the homeless that 

you deal with? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  Yes.  The homeless population is getting 

younger, but it depends on what bit of the cohort you are talking about.  The sorts of people who go to 

daycentre services have traditionally been older men and that morphs in different ways as you see different 

services retreating.  Domestic violence services, for example, will mean that different cohorts of people come 

in.  Particularly the issue around the way that the Housing Benefit system has disadvantaged young people and 

is going to continue to do that with further restrictions means that you get more young people.  I guess that is 

one side of it. 

 

The other thing to say is that the growth in homelessness - aside from the migrant rough-sleeping form of 

homelessness - in recent years in London is all to do with the loss of an assured shorthold tenancy.  That is not 

to say that there is a bunch of landlords who want to get rid of people.  It is that the way in which the benefit 

system works, again, means that it is much harder for people to meet their rents.  Clearly, the delinking of 

affordability and reality in terms of the Housing Benefit means that people are far less likely to make their rent.  

We had some research last year that showed that 50% of rough sleepers have been sanctioned and 20% of 

Page 33



 

 

those people who have been sanctioned attribute their homelessness to that sanction.  That is quite often 

because people were using their out-of-work benefits to top up the Housing Benefit. 

 

The profile of who we are seeing is really changing and that means that the traditional older man who has been 

kicked out of home and has drug or alcohol problems that have developed over the years is different, although 

that cohort of people is still there, too.  Sorry, that was a very long answer. 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  No, that is fine.  In fact, you have moved me on to the set of questions that I was meant to 

be asking.  What do you think the Mayor can do about the situation of homeless households in that case?  

What do you think? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  It is interesting.  It comes back to a similar 

thing around the overcrowding question that we were talking about earlier.  The private rented sector is now 

what is seen as both the leading cause of homelessness and probably the leading solution to it as well if we can 

make sure that there is sufficient allocation of affordable units within the private rented sector. 

 

There is the licensing and registration stuff.  I am so frustrated with this because it just makes so much sense in 

London.  So many local authorities in London want to do it.  The GLA itself has said that it would have wanted 

more powers back from the DCLG to get rid of this strange block that now exists that the last Secretary of 

State for Communities and Local Government put in around licensing schemes.  Of course, they would be 

different in different boroughs because not everywhere is like Newham and I would not agree with the way in 

which Newham has done it all the time.  Sometimes it looks like an immigration police type of operation, but it 

is clearly a way forward.  I would also say that the social lettings movement needs to be taken to scale and the 

GLA can do a lot to incentivise that. 

 

However, it is quite obvious that a lot of the problems in the private rented sector that lead to homelessness 

and a change in the population of homeless people are outside of the control of the Mayor. 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  Are you saying then that local authorities are actually dealing with this as well as they 

possibly could? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  I really do not want to bash local 

authorities and the way in which they tackle homelessness because their hands are tied so much in terms of 

what they can do.  We have done some work particularly to ‘mystery shop’ local authorities where we sent 

people with experience of homelessness who were aspiring actors into housing option services to present with 

the scenario that they had lived through themselves.  We saw some shocking stuff in London - of course we 

did - and we have worked with all of those authorities we did mystery shop to try to improve that.   

 

We see desperate measures.  Probably one of the most desperate indications that local authorities are 

struggling are Public Space Protection Orders.  Where local authorities have sought to extend their powers to 

penalise and then criminalise certain things, they have included rough sleeping in that.  Where we have seen 

that, we have fought it and worked alongside local authorities to see what else can be done.  That can work 

with No First Night Out where we can start thinking about pooling services that do not need to be 

commissioned by just one borough but can be done on a pan-London basis.  As Pat [Hayes] said, they are 

really up against it in terms of what can be done because the statutory duty says this amount of people and 

then the non-statutory groups grow and grow as well. 

 

Jenny Jones AM:  Do you think it is just a matter of finance that local authorities are so squeezed now? 

 

Page 34



 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  No.  As I say, it is about shifting the 

approach.  We need to move to prevention, accepting what Ric [Blakeway] said about some of the trials of 

Housing First in London.  We have traditionally had what is called a ‘staircase’ approach to homelessness where 

you qualify for the next level of entitlements once you are free of drugs or alcohol or some form of behaviour.  

That has been disproved as the way in which we will address homelessness sustainably.  The only proven model 

is to start with housing and to address mental health and address substance misuse within a housing setting.  

That needs to happen alongside the prevention agenda.  We have to move away from thinking about how we 

manage the problem to how we think about solving it.   

 

Jenny Jones AM:  Thank you.  Did anybody else want to say anything on that? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  I would just say that it is 

important we focus on the fact that rough sleepers are a tiny minority of the homeless population.  The 

majority of the homeless population are living on other people’s sofas.  They are living in overcrowded flats.  

They are the 2,000 people that we are dealing with.  They are the 9,000 people who are on our housing 

register, effectively. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  It is an iceberg, is it not, homelessness? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  Yes.  Also, this is a massive 

issue for London but, if you go outside London, if I talk to my counterpart in a big metropolitan northern city 

with a similar population, the number of homeless people - and they say it is terrible - is 120.  Ours is 1,220.  

There is a huge disparity between London and the rest of the country and the ability to deal with it.  A lot of 

big metropolitan cities outside London have vacant council stock that they can house people in.  Wigan has 

several hundred and so, if you present as homeless in that particular city, they can find you a house 

straightaway.  We have to be clear that there is a massive London problem.  There is a whole raft of 

homelessness.  Rough sleeping in some ways is the easiest bit of it to deal with and there are interventions that 

one can do around it.   

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  Can I ask how much of an issue sofa-surfing is and how much of that is hidden?  

Presumably quite a lot of people do not even go to the council in the first place.  Do we have accurate 

numbers for the number of people who are in that situation? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  No.  Because resources are 

very tight and because they have changed the benefit rules, we have to become better and better gatekeepers, 

effectively, so that people know there is no point going to the council unless you meet certain criteria.  We are 

good at picking up people who are vulnerable, people with children, etc, but if you are a single male your 

chance of getting a house through us is virtually non-existent unless you have some particular issue.  There are 

huge numbers of people living in the private rented sector or with friends.  It keeps London working to a 

degree but, again, it is back to why we need a reasonable quality supply of good affordable - in its broadest 

definition - housing.  London’s economy is working at the moment on people living in entirely random housing 

circumstances. 

 

Fiona Twycross AM:  OK.  Thank you. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  This is on the private rented sector, in particular the London Rental Standard.  Ric, why 

has the Mayor’s commitment to see 100,000 London landlords accredited to the London Rental Standard been 

rewritten to be 100,000 properties? 

 

Page 35



 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I have two comments.  The first is 

that, again, I pay huge tribute to the team in the GLA, particularly Rhona [Brown, Senior Policy Officer, GLA], 

for the record, who has done a fantastic job at organising and pushing the London Rental Standard.  As we 

know, the GLA itself has exceptionally limited, virtually non-existent powers around the rented sector. 

 

The thing we recognised very early on in the development of the London Rental Standard - something that 

you will know, Stephen - is the vast majority of landlords own one or two properties.  We are also seeing a 

substantial increase in the number of properties being managed by agents rather than the landlords 

themselves.  My view is that we should focus on professionalising that agency sector.  We had a huge drive, 

therefore, around accrediting agents.  We have other 300 agents now accredited and with staff at every branch 

trained.  There are something like 600 branches there and so there will be hundreds if not thousands of people 

working on a daily basis around managing properties who will be trained as a result of the London Rental 

Standards.  That is really positive and I think personally it is sensible to measure that success around 

accrediting agents in terms of properties rather than in terms of individual landlords. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  We have started off with a target of 100,000 landlords, which represents about a third 

of London landlords, and then shifted the target to 100,000 properties.  If you want to measure properties, 

arguably you should look for a third of London properties.  Of course, there are a lot more than 300,000 

properties in London.  100,000 properties represents only about a tenth of the properties in the private rented 

sector.  In a sense, you have shifted from a third of the private rented sector to the target being a tenth.  

Indeed, you have already exceeded 100,000 properties. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes, 137,000.  You can 

congratulate us. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  There is no getting around the fact that it is a complete change of target.  There is 

no getting around that. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  You have started off with an ambitious target -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I have explained why. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  -- for us to go from the 13,000 properties already accredited under the various 

existing -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Sorry, landlords.  You are mixing 

up properties and landlords. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Sorry.  To go from 13,000 landlords already accredited under existing schemes to 

100,000 was a very substantial increase in accreditation, which was your aim.  The current figure is 14,891 

landlords.   

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is about 15,000. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It is about 15,000? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes. 

 

Page 36



 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  There has been a modest increase in the number of landlords accredited across 

London. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes.  We have doubled the number 

in -- 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  However, there has certainly not been the -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Incidentally, we had doubled the 

number in the previous mayoral term from what we inherited. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  -- step change from 13,000 to 100,000, has there? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Stephen, there has been a 

transformation in terms of the GLA’s work around the private rented sector.  There was virtually nothing 

happening at the GLA when this Mayor came to office on co-ordinating or overseeing the rented market.  We 

have seen the introduction of the London Rental Standard.  I do not know another city in the UK that does 

something like that.  There may be one.  I do not know it. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Yes. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is ground-breaking.  The fact 

that we have so many agents engaging in this is really positive. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It is obviously welcome that we have made any progress, I suppose. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, it has been fantastic progress.  

It went from zero to 137,000 properties. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It has not gone from zero, has it?   

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  No, it has not.  There were existing schemes. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  There were seven existing accreditation schemes covering 13,000 landlords. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  All right.  Close to zero. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  OK.  A question for you -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  This is a manufactured 

frustration -- 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Can I ask you a question? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  -- that you are showing here.  This 

has been real progress with no powers. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Look, we know that there were 13,000 landlords already covered by the seven existing 

accreditations. 

Page 37



 

 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes, because of the work this 

Mayor has done. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Do you know how many properties that represented? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Offhand I do not know, but we can 

assume that the average landlord owns three properties.  Let us go for that.   

 

Hold on, Stephen.  We doubled that number from the number we inherited because in the first term the 

Mayor’s focus was on expanding things like the London Landlord Accreditation Scheme (LLAS) and then in the 

second term the Mayor’s focus was to say, “Look, why do we not bring in all the other accrediting bodies?”  

There are about six in total, including those who are dealing with agents rather than landlords.  You cannot 

start the clock ticking from when the London Rental Standard started. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Is it fair to say that there were already 100,000 properties covered by the seven 

existing schemes? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No.  It is completely wrong. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Given you have -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Clearly, agents will manage far 

more properties than an individual landlord will own.  It has substantially increased. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It has substantially increased? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It must have done.  It is completely 

wrong to say -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  We should get the figures, should we not? 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Yes.  We do not know what the figures are.   

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  -- that those 13,000 landlords 

managed 100,000 properties.  It is completely wrong. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  We know that we have just short of 15,000 landlords managing 138,000 properties. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Stephen, do you not welcome the 

direction of travel?  Do you not welcome the fact that this Mayor is really trying to get a framework around the 

rented sector? 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  The question is simply this.  You start off saying you are going to achieve a huge 

increase in the amount of accreditation.  You are going to get 100,000 landlords, a third of London’s landlords, 

accredited.  Then you change tack halfway through and say, “No, we are going to get a tenth of London’s 

properties in the private rented sector accredited”.  That is clearly a much lower target than a third of 

landlords. 

 

Page 38



 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  The work that we are doing is 

exceptionally ambitious. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It is a lot less ambitious than you started out. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, it is exceptionally ambitious.  

We have continued to really try to promote and grow this.  We have worked with the private sector to try to 

introduce incentives to encourage more landlords and agents to sign up.  The work around the agents, getting 

over 300 agents signed up -- you have to recognise that over half the market is managed by these agents.  

There has been real progress.  Are you not pleased? 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  If you start off with a target that is a third of London’s private rented sector and you 

want to focus on properties, and maybe that is the right way to focus -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is entirely sensible. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  -- then why not have the same target of a third of London’s private rented sector? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It was not expressed in those 

terms.  It is entirely sensible for us to have said, “Look, let us go for the agents”.  They are the ones who are 

out there saying, “We are the professionals”.  They are the ones out there who will clearly have greater reach in 

the market because they are going to have several landlords signed up to their agency.  It is entirely sensible, 

therefore, for us to focus on the letting agents.  That approach has succeeded.  Over 300 agents signed up is a 

really positive measure. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  OK.  Well -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  The other really important point to 

make is that of course there were accreditation schemes in existence and we were a strong supporter of LLAS 

in the first mayoral term, but they are all having to do something extra as a result of the London Rental 

Standard.  They have all raised the bar.  That is a really positive thing.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  OK. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  To get that coordination around 

the market with no statutory power whatsoever -- 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  All right.  We are not going to agree about whether or not the target has been 

weakened.  You have clearly made some progress and clearly it is useful to target the agents.  Maybe that is 

the right approach.   

 

Is it the truth of the matter that with any voluntary accreditation scheme you are going to effectively be 

getting the best landlords joining it anyway and that the real problem landlords, who are irresponsible, are the 

last people who are going to join a voluntary scheme?   

 

We have seen a number of boroughs around London implement licensing schemes for landlords and we have 

seen some boroughs prevented from doing so by the Government.  Do you think that moving forward, if we 

are really doing to tackle the problems of this completely unregulated sector, the only way is to have a proper 

regulatory framework through a formal licensing scheme that perhaps covers all of London? 

Page 39



 

 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There are a couple of things.  

Firstly, you are right.  Obviously the London Rental Standard is a voluntary measure.  We have no statutory 

powers.  Even if it were a statutory obligation, there would still be people who would not comply.  With all the 

licensing schemes you have around London, clearly you have landlords who have ignored that and they end up 

prosecuted. 

 

It is absolutely right to say that under any system you will have rogue landlords, criminal landlords, and 

therefore it is absolutely right to tackle that as well.  We have done so alongside the London Rental Standard.  

We have over half the money the Government has made available for tackling rogue landlords being invested 

in London.  There is something like £5 million going through to the boroughs and a whole range of measures, 

including some legislation, to try to tackle that rump of bad landlords that obviously do tremendous harm to 

their tenants and blight the reputation of the sector.   

 

Insofar as a London-wide licensing scheme is concerned, personally I am not convinced.  It is confusing two 

things.  The licensing schemes are very much focused around building conditions and compliance around that, 

whereas the London Rental Standard is very much focused around daily management standards and 

professionalisation of that.  There are two slightly different things, I would argue.   

 

Certainly Newham, which is one of the standard-bearers for licensing, started off with a small scheme in one or 

two wards.   

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  A trial in one or two wards? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It was very much seen as an 

approach to go into an area where they had a heavy concentration of properties in poor condition and focus in 

on that.  I would probably say that has merit in more places around London where it is very focused, rather 

than being a blanket approach.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  You think that more of London should be covered by licensing but not all of London? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There is merit in targeted licensing 

schemes but I am not persuaded by a London-wide licensing scheme. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Do you think boroughs ought to have the power to have licensing schemes?  We 

recently had the example of Redbridge, which wanted to have a licensing scheme but the Government rejected 

it.   

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Was that an example of localism when the Minister rejected the Borough’s desire 

for a -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We are straying into an area where 

you are trying to hold the Mayor to account for decisions made by others. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  I am interested in your view. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I cannot form a view because I 

have not seen the application Redbridge made. 

 

Page 40



 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  On principle, do you think Ministers should be able to overrule a borough that has 

consulted on and wants to introduce an accreditation scheme? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There has to be an application 

process, quite clearly.   

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Why not leave it up to boroughs? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There has to be a process.  That 

process could be done in consultation with the Mayor.  There are lots of different ways to do it. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  The borough does not have to consult the Government when it wants to build a 

new leisure centre.  Why to introduce a licensing scheme? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There are parameters around what 

has to be applied for.  I am giving you a very direct answer.  I am not persuaded by a London-wide system. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Do you have an assessment of the success or otherwise of the schemes that have been 

implemented?   

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Do you mean the licensing 

schemes? 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  The licensing schemes.  Has the GLA done an assessment of them?  It is not just 

Newham.  There are a number of other boroughs that are doing it now. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Sure.  No, there are.  We had a 

meeting recently through Homes for London with different licensing schemes.  We tried to take an overview 

there.  We do not have a full analysis but we have seen lots of information coming forward from Newham in 

particular and obviously Newham are very positive about their scheme.  I am quite interested in going on one 

of the dawn raids in either Newham or another borough to see how that operates.  It is interesting but I am still 

not persuaded there should be a London-wide scheme. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Do you think the Mayor should have the power to have a London-wide scheme?  A 

slightly different question.   

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  In the next few weeks before 

purdah we are not going to introduce a London-wide scheme.  I am not going to ask for a power for something 

I do not think should be introduced. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  No, it is a slightly different question. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is probably not one for me, 

though, is it? 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It is not a question about whether or not you, if you were the next Mayor, would do it.  

It is a question about whether you think the next Mayor should have the power -- 

 

Page 41



 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is pointless for you to ask me 

that. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  -- to introduce a London-wide -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Stephen, I just -- 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  You are not going to answer the question? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I do not think I should sit here and 

hypothecate about what decision the next Mayor should make. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  No, that is not the question.  It is not about the decision. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I think it is. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  It is about whether the next Mayor should have the power to do it, irrespective of 

whether they decide to do it. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  That is hypothecating about the 

next Mayor. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Can I rephrase this slightly?  In Scotland and Wales powers over the private rented 

sector are devolved matters.  Over the last few years when you have been Deputy Mayor, do you think it would 

have been a benefit to you for those powers to have been devolved to London? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We have done -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That was not the question.  Would you have found it beneficial? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I would need to go away and look 

at exactly which powers would be beneficial for London to support the sort of schemes that we are doing.  I 

would not for a moment say the Government has sought to undermine our efforts around things like the 

London Rental Standard.  Indeed, we have worked effectively with the Government on introducing legislative 

measures to tackle things such as redress and issues around rogue landlords.  It should be recognised that the 

Government has introduced legislative measures.  The fact that now every agent has to be part of a redress 

scheme is a very positive measure. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Why do we have to wait for the Government?  You welcomed, rightly, some of the 

things the Housing and Planning Bill is doing on the private rented sector.  If London had had devolved 

powers, the Mayor could have gone ahead and implemented these measures himself. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We have not been held back from 

getting on with stuff. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  You have been held back, clearly. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, we have not because we have 

a London Landlord Standard that now has over 300 agents accredited.   

Page 42



 

 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  As we know, the bad landlords are not going to submit themselves to voluntary 

regulation.  It is absurd to suggest that they would. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There has been money and there 

has been legislation to tackle -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  There is no teeth to it. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  There has been money and there 

has been legislation to tackle rogue landlords. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  You talk about enforcement.  In Scotland, I think I am right in saying, you are not 

registered as a landlord you have no power to evict tenants or anything like that.  Essentially you lose all of 

your legal rights.  That is how they enforce the scheme. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  This is not restricted to housing 

policy.  Scotland as a country has a whole range of powers that are different to the GLA. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Many of which we should have devolved. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Sure.  Let us start with property 

taxes. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Ric, I just wanted to know.  Do the letting agents tell you who the landlords they are 

acting for are? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Sorry, you will have to unpack the 

question for me.  There is no register of landlords, obviously. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  No, but do the letting agents tell you who their landlords are? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We are keen to see whether we 

could create a list of landlords -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You have not done that yet? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  -- who are accredited under agents 

or rather the agent is managing the property on behalf of the landlord.  We would love to create that list.  We 

would love for people to be able to Google or use a search engine as part of that list so that they can identify 

whether their landlord is accredited or not. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You do not ask?   

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We are trying to work with all the 

different accrediting bodies to do exactly that.  It is not happening at the moment but we would like to. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It has not been a condition -- 

 

Page 43



 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, it has not been a condition 

because it -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  -- for the letting agents to tell you who their landlords are?  Often, as you know - and 

you must know - the letting agents are acting for absentee landlords.  We do not know who the landlords are, 

which is why Tom’s [Copley AM] point about being able to register landlords is a very good idea, for just a 

nominal fee as they do in Scotland.  A whole raft of things is made possible by that.  You are thinking of doing 

it but you have not done it? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, we have not done it.  We are 

actively talking to the accrediting bodies.  My view is that it was far better to get on and get stuff going rather 

than wait for every piece to be in place.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Can I just ask one further question?  Do you work with landlords like Grainger?   

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Grainger has how many properties in London? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I do not know Grainger’s stock 

offhand.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Thousands and thousands.  You work with the very big landlords? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We work with very large landlords.  

As you know, we are a strong advocate of bringing more institutional-type landlords into the market.  We have 

done a huge amount, not just with Grainger but Greystar, Realstar and all sorts. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Are they part of the London Rental Standard? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Absolutely.  Yes, clearly.  We will 

double-check but certainly our view is that big professional landlords like that should be signed up.  Unless you 

know something that I do not know, I am not conscious that Grainger has been highlighted as a rogue landlord 

that needs tackling. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  No, I am trying to get to the bottom of the number of properties that are in the London 

Rental Standard. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I see what you are saying. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You began by talking about -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Let me check because we might be 

able to add them on.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Could you let me finish?   

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  You are absolutely right, Nicky. 

 

Page 44



 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Could you let me finish?  Could you not talk over me?  Just -- 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Sure.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  -- let me finish.  As you said, the whole picture is very fragmented and most landlords 

own one or two properties, but there are several very big landlords in London.  I would like to know and I 

would like you to let the Committee know which big landlords you have signed up. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes.  That is fair.  Let me go away 

and we will provide the Committee with that. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Thank you. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It may be additional.  Certainly our 

view is that we should have more big institutions managing rental stock in this city.  That is why we have, for 

example, four GLA-owned sites that will have institutional landlords as part of those schemes. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  This is why I am not sure the switch from landlords to properties is particularly 

helpful.  The big institutional landlords tend to be the good landlords that people do not complain about and it 

is very easy to get a large number of properties if you sign up a landlord that owns 1,000 of them.  It is much 

more difficult to sign up 1,000 individual landlords who might have one or two. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Sure.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  That is what I was trying to cover in my -- 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  I just wondered if we could bring Pat and Matt [Downie] in on this issue of voluntary 

accreditation versus licensing.  Has Ealing considered a licensing scheme?  Do you think you ought to have the 

power to do it? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  We for some time have had a 

small area scheme, which we have expanded now.  That is virtually a borough-wide scheme.  Ric is right that 

there are two issues.  One is about regulation and making sure that the minimum standard is conformed to and 

robustly policing that, which is what a licensing scheme enables us to do because you have the licensing 

income and you have the mechanism to go around, knock on people’s doors and inspect.  Without a licensing 

scheme that is quite difficult.   

 

There is also an issue - and the GLA scheme has been welcome - about raising standards in the rental industry 

overall.  We are doing a lot to encourage the institutional investors to come in.  Indeed, we provide 

market-rented housing ourselves to try to catalyse that market and encourage people to go into that market.  

There is a lot of work to be done in improving the public perception of the rented sector and getting landlords 

to do more than just meet the statutory standard - in terms of a safe gas boiler, not damp, etc - and have 

good-quality letting and management.  That is the separate strand there. 

 

We support a borough-wide licensing scheme.  We would like the process to be simpler.  It is slightly strange.  

There are a lot of things we can do without going to central Government but we cannot introduce a licensing 

scheme without going through a lot of hurdles.  We had to spend quite a lot of money on proof of why we 

needed the scheme to have the coverage that it does have.   

 

Page 45



 

 

There is a separate issue around how we collectively, as the 32 boroughs and the GLA, drive up the standards 

in the private rented sector.  That is about working with some of the big institutional landlords.  It is also about 

working with the agents.  I would like to be in a position where landlords can see there is a positive advantage 

in being involved with the borough because you get your formal license, but also you can then get a Kitemark 

standard like we have for food licensing.  For example, you can say, “I am a five-star landlord”, or, “I am a 

three-star landlord”, and that means something because there is an enforcement and inspection regime that 

backs that up.  It is twofold. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Do you think there is a case for having minimum standards enforced as a London-wide 

licensing arrangement, either a minimum standard in every borough or even a London-wide scheme? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  It would be nice within London 

for there to be provision that if a borough wants it, then it can have a licensing scheme without having to go 

through the hurdles it has to go through at the moment.  Then individual boroughs could decide whether they 

want to be in or out.  There are parts of our boroughs in which honestly it would be hard for me to argue for a 

licensing scheme because there is so little rented property in those particular fairly niche but fairly affluent 

wards.  That would not apply to them. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  We know that the private rented sector is growing, even in the affluent areas.  Can I 

just ask you one other question?  You said that you as a council are now entering effectively the private rented 

sector yourselves. 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  Yes. 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Are you as a landlord part of the London Rental Standard?  Are you accredited? 

 

Pat Hayes (Executive Director – Regeneration and Housing, LB Ealing):  We exceed the London Rental 

Standard but I am not sure if we have signed up or not.  I will have to check. -- 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  There are quite a few properties there you could sign up.   

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  Just a brief point.  What matters with this 

is the outcome.  What really matters is not the number of people signed up to this or that.  As Ric [Blakeway] 

said, with the licensing scheme you will still get rogue landlords.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  But you can enforce. 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  The important measure is whether you are 

more able to find those landlords with a licensing scheme?  Are there levers opened up to a local authority? 

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Doesn’t the licensing scheme give you not only the power to enforce but also the 

resources through the licensing system-- to do that enforcement? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  Precisely that.  At a time when local 

authority enforcement team budgets are going, what we have heard from local authorities - where they have it 

- is that it is really helpful.  It is really helpful to be able to find those landlords and link up a number of other 

powers that they have, particularly with ‘right to rent’ and that kind of looming scheme around landlords 

having to provide the migration or national status of their tenants.  It really helps to be able to know who your 

landlords are and to be able to go after those that might do the wrong thing.  It does not make any sense to 

Page 46



 

 

me to say that, if the local authority sees a need and wants to be able to do it, they would be prevented 

without any common-sense basis.   

 

Stephen Knight AM:  Do you think there is a case for a London-wide scheme as opposed to a patchwork of 

different schemes around London? 

 

Matt Downie (Director of Policy and External Affairs, Crisis):  I would be far more interested in a 

London-wide investment in the outcomes, if I can put it that way.  If there are parts of London where the 

borough does not want it, is that because there are no issues where they are dealing with rogue landlords or 

tenants who are complaining and there is no recourse after that?  Then you might say, “Where are your 

outcomes on that?”  Clearly not all local boroughs want it.  To enforce it, you are into different territory there. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Thank you.  All right, the final question is from me on Build-to-Let.  Ric, can Build-

to-Let make a significant contribution in addressing the issues with London’s private rented sector? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That was a very succinct answer.  Thank you.  Do you want to expand on it? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It can and there is a real consensus 

around the role that the build-to-let and build-to-rent market can play in London.  It has a whole range of 

different benefits.  It can help accelerate sites, including those big schemes we were referring to earlier, by 

offering a different product there that does not have absorption issues and all of that usual stuff.  It brings in 

patient capital and new investors.  We have seen a huge amount of work from companies like Legal & General 

[L&G] and Aviva, and some of the European pension funds and others.  It is really interesting, for example, 

today, that L&G is talking about offsite assembly and creating a huge factory to enable that.  Also, it has a 

benefit around construction methods. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Nicky would be keen on that.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Where is the factory? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  I do not think they have found a 

location yet but they have said they want to -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Who is this? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  L&G.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes.  It is going to be in Leeds, I think. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Is it?  OK.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes.  We have known about that for quite a long time. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  They were making a big thing 

about it today and the £500 million they are going to put behind it. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It is great.   

Page 47



 

 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is really good.  There is a whole 

host of positive reasons, as well as the experience of the consumer, not just from professional management 

standards but also from the design of purpose-built schemes.  The idea of having communal space and having 

services that you would not usually find in the amateur rented market is really positive.   

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Do you have records of how many build-to-let properties are being built each 

year?  Do we have those figures as a breakdown?  Could we have them? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  The Annual Monitoring Report at 

the moment does not distinguish when it has market completions between market rent and market sale, but 

we do have other data.  For example, at the moment Molior, which provides real-time data, says there is 

something like 18,000 or 19,000 units -- 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  A year? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  -- under construction currently. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Under construction? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Which year they complete in will 

vary.  It will not all be within a single year. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Sure. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  That is really positive and a huge 

increase from where we were before.  It has been enabled partly through our advocacy of it, partly through 

some of the planning measures to try to encourage a Montague [r report] style of covenant, and partly 

through our land release. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Neal, is there a genuine appetite for build-to-let amongst developers?  Is there 

hard evidence on changes in build-to-let investment in London? 

 

Neal Hudson (Associate Director, Residential Research, Savills):  I would slightly clarify your question in 

that there is a massive appetite for build-to-let particularly from institutional investors.  The challenge for the 

sector is the appetite from developers.  It comes back to the underlying issues with the whole of the housing 

market: it is the availability of land and the opportunity to do so.  The big challenge for build-to-let is 

competing for land for development against your traditional housing development and other uses. 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  Do we need a new use class, then? 

 

Neal Hudson (Associate Director, Residential Research, Savills):  Some of the detail that is in the Draft 

Interim Housing Special Planning Guidance (SPG) that was published in May 2015 is very useful for the sector.  

We within Savills back what it says.  There has been a lot of debate around whether use classes are appropriate 

or whether it should be down a covenant limiting its use for a certain period.  The industry’s feeling at the 

moment is that a covenant of a set period of time limiting its use to just institutional invested private rent is 

the most appropriate way to go.  It removes some of the complexities of bringing in a new use class and makes 

it an easier proposition to explain and to do in practice. 

 

Page 48



 

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  How can we further incentivise the sector? 

 

Neal Hudson (Associate Director, Residential Research, Savills):  It has already been mentioned 

previously that so far there are two main ways that it is happening.  One is on large sites where it is very useful 

as a means to accelerate development and also the cash flow for developers.  I suspect we will see that as a 

solution becoming more popular amongst developers as we move into more uncertain terms around the 

affordable homes programme in future years.  We have also seen a lot of success where we have seen land 

released by the likes of the GLA or Transport for London where they have specifically required build-to-let 

products.  That was probably the greatest opportunity for the development of the sector going forward, where 

we see a requirement for build-to-let properties and developments.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Just on fast build, I would like to ask how many fast builds you have created under the 

Mayor. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Do you mean modern methods of 

construction and all of that sort of stuff? 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes, modern methods of construction, modular housing. 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We do not have a number for 

modular housing.  It is fair to say that almost every development now will incorporate some form of modern 

construction method, whether it be cross-laminated timber or the use of bathroom pods or something, which is 

now pretty typical within the industry.  They have all tried to incorporate it.  We have been a strong advocate 

of trying to use modular and things like that.  We have funded some providers to that effect.  We are keen to 

see more.  We have offered to housing associations, for example, slightly higher grant rates if they use 

innovative construction methods, to really drive numbers.   

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Which two? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  To housing associations or 

registered partners. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  Yes, but which two? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  It is an offer there.  As part of 

continuous market engagement, they can come to us and say, “Look, we would like to use modern 

construction methods”.  There is a whole range of different -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It has not been taken up yet? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  We would need to check but I 

suspect not hugely.  That does not mean that they are not incorporating it within their schemes in some way. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  You are offering increased grant? 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  Yes.  That is one of the -- 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  It has not yet been taken up? 

 

Page 49



 

 

Richard Blakeway (Deputy Mayor for Housing, Land and Property):  No, not to any great extent, 

certainly.  It may be that there are one or two schemes. 

 

The issue for me here is that whilst there are different innovative methods being adopted, it is not consistent.  

We need to really think about how we get a more consistent approach to drive this, probably focusing on a few 

methods and then trying to get those to scale.  Part of the problem here is that certainly in the early years, it 

can be more expensive.  It might be quicker but it can be more expensive because you do not have the scale.  

If we could get to scale with a few methods then you might get the economies that will get the industry 

adopting those practices. 

 

Nicky Gavron AM:  I agree about scale.  You need continuity of demand and also you are not going to get 

that unless you start looking at this as an industrial sector.   

 

Tom Copley AM (Chair):  That brings us to the end of the session.  Can I thank our guests for their 

contributions. 

Page 50



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 June 2016 

This report will be considered in public 

 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out actions arising from previous meetings of the Housing Committee. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the completed actions arising from its previous meetings. 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 23 February 2016 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

5. Questions to the Deputy Mayor for 

Housing, Land and Property 

(Item 5) 

During the course of the discussion 

Members requested that the 

Greater London Authority (GLA) 

provide the following information in 

writing: 

 A copy of the GLA Planning 

team’s response to the 

Government’s consultation on 

the National Planning Policy 

Framework and confirmation 

whether the response would be 

made public; 

 Data on the number of 

completion waivers signed 

before 31 March 2015, and 

confirmation whether the 

proportion of waivers signed 

was higher than usual; and 

Completed 

 

A response to the 

Committee’s request 

has been received and 

is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

n/a 

Page 51

Agenda Item 7



        

 Confirmation as to which large 

landlord businesses had signed 

up to the London Rental 

Standard. 

 

6. Affordable Homes for Rent in 

London (Item 6) 

That authority be delegated to the 

Chair, in consultation with party Group 

Lead Members, to agree an open letter 

to the next Mayor of London 

concerning increasing provision of 

affordable homes for rent in London. 

 

Completed 

 

Following consultation 

with party Group Lead 

Members, the Chair 

agreed the letter.   

 

For more information 

on this delegation of 

authority, see 

Agenda Item 8. 

 

n/a 

 

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 19 January 2016 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

10. Housing Committee Work 

Programme 

That authority be delegated to the 

Chair, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, to agree 

the Committee’s report on the effect of 

rent stabilisation measures on London’s 

Housing market. 

 

Completed 

 

Following consultation 

with party Group Lead 

Members, the Chair 

agreed the final report. 

 

The report is attached 

at Agenda Item 9.   

 

For more information 

on this delegation of 

authority, see 

Agenda Item 8. 

 

 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Page 52



        

 

Actions Arising from the Meeting of 19 November 2015 

Minute 

Number 

Topic Status For action by 

7. Housing Committee Work 

Programme 

That authority be delegated to the 

Chair, in consultation with 

party Group Lead Members, to agree 

any submission the Committee may like 

to make to the House of Lords 

Economic Affairs Committee’s inquiry 

into the economics of the UK housing 

market. 

 

Superseded 

 

The Committee did not 

agree a submission for 

this call for evidence. 

 

n/a 

 

 

3.  Legal Implications 
 

3.1   The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 
List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Letter to Tom Copley AM, then Chair of the Housing Committee, from David Lunts, dated 

11 March 2016  

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Ed Wise, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 4619 

Email: ed.wise@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 53

mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



GREATERLONDONAUTHORITY

HoUsing & Land

Tom Copley AM
Chair of the Housing Committee
London Assembly
Greater London Authority
7th Floor, City Hall

Dear Tom

Our ref: copleyl 103

Date; 11 March 2016

It

Thank you for your letter dated 29 February 2016 and the three follow-up questio
Committee session of 23 February 2016. The responses are set out below.

ns to the Housing

1. National Planning Policy Framework consultation — This is available on the GLA website at the
following link -

Imps: //www. londoa.gQisikLsitesLdLatJlt/files1myQr of IQD4QLLPRPf respQaSLpdf

2. Utilities waivers - The GLA follows the same definition of completion as used by the Homes
and Communities Agency (HCA). Practical Completion is defined as the point when a scheme
has been completed in accordance with the terms of the relevant building and funding
contract and is fit for occupation as a residential development in accordance with NHBC
requirements. This excludes minor defects and/or minor omissions at the time of inspection
which are capable of being made good or carried out without interfering with the beneficial
use and enjoyment of the scheme. A more detailed explanation is available on page 14 of the
GLA’s Capital Funding Guide at
https:Jjwww.lq.ndon .gv. uk/si.tes/dfa_u[t/fil.es/S_gla_cfg_ctiqn_2,_genraL

2 5_ffeb_20.1.6±pdf The GLA, like the HCA, also operates a process of allowing providers to
claim practical completion where delays experienced with utilities companies means that a
Practical Completion certificate could not be obtained. These are called utilities waivers and is
in line with the same process used by the HCA pre-transfer of functions to the GLA in 2012
and continued within the GLA.

I have set out data on the number of schemes granted utilities waivers for each of the last four
years, in absolute terms and as a proportion of all schemes in those years.

Schemes affected by utilities
waivers

Schemes completed

% of utilities waiver schemes

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2014-15

121 24 18 203

1477 1080 724 1994

9% 2% 3% 10%

City Hall, London, SE1 2AA • london.goy.uk • 020 7983 4000

Office telephone: 020 7983 4959 Email: davidiuntsIondon.gov.uk

Appendix 1

Page 55



As you can see 2014-15 has the highest number of schemes affected, although only slightly higher in
proportionate terms than 2011-12. This reflects the heavily back-ended nature of delivery in that
year, with over 9,000 completions in March, the highest number that we have ever recorded.

3. Large landlords and the London Rental Standard - I can confirm that we do have a number of
larger corporate landlords and housing associations signed up to the London Rental Standard,
including Grainger, Get Living London, Genesis and One Housing Group. However, the
properties they manage will not have skewed the overall figures, as they are additional to the
monthly calculation of properties managed by accredited agents that we publish on the GLA
website, here: ttps://i.london.gov.uJgwhat-we-doJftousing-and-land/rentingLipflpnE
Leut.abtandsdL[andIps5. We are currently working on a way to accurately include those PRS
properties managed by large corporate landlords and housing associations in our estimate so
that we can more fully reflect the true number of properties covered by the scheme.

If there is any further information we can provide please do not hesitate to contact me.

Yours sincerely

David Lunts
Executive Director — Housing and Land

Page 56



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 June 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public  

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out recent action taken by the former Chair of the Housing Committee under 

delegated authority. 

 
 
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the action taken by Tom Copley AM, the former Chair of the 

Housing Committee, under delegated authority, namely to agree, in consultation with the 

then party Group Lead Members: 

 

(a) An open letter to the next Mayor of London concerning increasing provision of 

affordable homes for rent in London, as attached to Appendix 1 to the report; and 

(b) The Committee’s report on the effect of rent stabilisation on London’s housing 

market. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 Under Standing Orders and the Assembly’s Scheme of Delegation, certain decisions by Members can 

be taken under delegated authority.  This report details those actions. 

  

3.2 At the Committee’s meeting on 19 January 2016, the Committee resolved: 

 

“That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, to 

agree the Committee’s report on the effect of rent stabilisation measures on London’s 

housing market.” 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 8



        

3.3 At the Committee’s meeting on 23 February 2016, the Committee resolved: 

 

“That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, 

to agree an open letter to the next Mayor of London concerning increasing provision of 

affordable homes for rent in London.” 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 Following consultation with the then party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed the Committee’s 

report on the effect of rent stabilization measures on London’s housing market.  The report, 

At Home with Renting, is attached at Agenda Item 9 for noting. 

 

4.2 Following consultation with the then party Group Lead Members, the Chair agreed an open letter to 

the next Mayor of London concerning increasing provision of affordable homes for rent in London.  

The open letter is attached at Appendix 1 for noting. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1: Open Letter to the Mayor regarding increasing provision of affordable homes for rent in 

London. 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: Member Delegated Authority Form 634 (Rent stabilisation report); and 

Member’s Delegated Authority Form 694 (Open letter concerning increasing provision of affordable homes 

for rent). 

 

Contact Officer:  Ed Wise, Committee Officer 

Telephone:  020 7983 4619 

E-mail:  ed.wise@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 58

mailto:ed.wise@london.gov.uk


Tom Copley AM, Chair of the Housing Committee City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

London SE1 2AA 

Switchboard: 020 7983 4000 

Minicom: 020 7983 4458 

Web: www.london.gov.uk 

Direct telephone: 020 7983 5545   Email: tom.copley@london.gov.uk 

Mayor of London 

(Sent via email) 

Dear Mayor, 

The challenge of providing affordable homes for rent in 

London 

I am writing to inform you about the recent work of the London Assembly Housing 

Committee which looked at how London government can better support the building of new 

affordable homes for rent in London.  I hope this will be helpful to the GLA in the run-up to a 

possible future review of the Housing Strategy. This letter reflects the view of a majority of 

the Committee with the dissent of the GLA Conservatives.1 

With high house prices and housebuilding lagging behind demand, London’s affordable 

housing stock is at a premium. London’s private rental prices are also increasingly 

unaffordable, rising 6.2 per cent in the year to January 2016,2 compared to a 1.4 per cent rise 

in average weekly pay in the year to December 2015.3 This is leaving those unable to access 

social housing yet on low-to-middle-incomes struggling to survive in the capital.   

We urgently need to build more high quality new homes that Londoners can afford to live in, 

both for rent and to buy.  Yet the focus of government policy is increasingly on developing 

homes for ownership. While we acknowledge that many Londoners aspire to own their own 

homes, this is not likely to be a viable option for all. There are therefore real concerns that we 

may not be developing enough rented homes which are genuinely affordable to those who 

need them.  For this reason, the Assembly’s Housing Committee has devoted three of its 

recent sessions to look at issues arising from the current policy on affordable rented homes 

and innovation in their development. 

1 The following London Assembly Groups are in agreement with this letter: Labour, the Green Party and the 
Liberal Democrats. The GLA Conservatives are in dissent with this letter. 
2 HomeLet, 2016, HomeLet Rental Index: January 2016 Edition 
3 ONS, 2016, ‘LMSB SA AWE total pay WE’ 

Ref: 2016/102 

Date:  21 March 2016 

Appendix 1

Page 59

http://www.london.gov.uk/
http://homelet.co.uk/assets/documents/January-2016-HomeLet-Rental-Index.pdf
http://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/earningsandworkinghours/timeseries/kab9


 

 
- 2 - 

 

We looked at challenges facing housing associations on delivering the Affordable Rent (AR) 

model in November 2015, before undertaking a site visit to Barking and Dagenham in 

December to look at the innovative models being used in the borough to develop new 

affordable homes for rent. Finally, we discussed innovative investment and development 

models for affordable homes for rent in London in January 2016. 

 

The challenge of building new AR homes 

 

The Affordable Rent (AR) model, first introduced in 2011, was intended to give housing 

providers greater flexibility in the range of product they develop, as well as delivering homes 

which would be affordable to social housing tenants. However, with declining levels of grant, 

changes to welfare and the introduction of new government policies, housing associations 

have found that delivering the AR model is becoming increasingly challenging. 

 

Capital grant is still important for many providers 

As the level of capital grant has declined, housing associations have had to increase their 

borrowing and build market homes for cross-subsidy so that they can continue to provide 

some AR homes. Octavia told us that capital grant is hugely important to housing 

associations, as “even at these reduced levels – [it] allows us to do more than we would 

otherwise be able to do”. Without this subsidy, Genesis told us that if it kept all of its stock at 

social or AR levels, its “ability to borrow is going to evaporate very quickly”.   

 

Cross-subsidy can provide a financial boost but this is not without risk 

Providers are therefore now beginning to cross-subsidise AR homes by building homes for 

market rent as well as for sale. Home Group told us about its innovative ‘flexible rents’ model 

where a variable mixture of affordable and market rent homes is provided. The proportion of 

each type of home will change according to changes in the rental market, so that the site 

continues to generate a fixed-income return while also providing an average rent at around 

65 per cent of market rates. This innovation is not just limited to housing associations – 

Barking and Dagenham set up a private company to work with partners to build new AR 

homes, cross-subsidised by units for private sale. However, Family Mosaic warned that, 

combined with increased borrowing to cover costs, building market homes leaves housing 

associations at risk “if the market goes through a crash… [then] most of us will have to 

rethink where we stand [on cross-subsidy]”.  

 

Constant change is difficult and costly 

Housing associations also face the challenge of recent changes to social rents and welfare 

benefits, which will affect their ability to build new AR homes. We were told that as a result of 

the one per cent reduction in social rents over the next four years, Family Mosaic would have 

to save £14 million per year while Genesis would have to save a total of £50 million by the 

fourth year to make up for lost income. Octavia told us that welfare reforms such as the 

introduction of the lower benefit cap could have a significant impact on its business model. 

Most of all, housing associations were concerned about the instability caused by these 

changes. Home Group noted that “the change in the welfare system… has impacted on our 

rental income stability”, while Family Mosaic urged the government to “tell us the rules”. 

Dolphin Living suggested that the Mayor could give greater certainty to housing associations 

if he were to take “back the regulation of RPs [Registered Providers] from the HCA [Homes 

Page 60



 

 
- 3 - 

 

and Communities Agency] and introduce a regulatory regime that is appropriate for London”. 

A future Housing Strategy should set out the pros and cons of such a move. 

 

Diversity is alive and well and should be supported 

Housing associations are not the only providers of AR homes, and the Mayoralty is in an 

excellent position to nurture greater diversity in the sector. Private investors could be a big 

part of this- we heard how Cheyne Capital and QSH are using long-term, socially-responsible 

investment funds to build new affordable homes for rent. Shamez Alibhai from Cheyne Capital 

argued that this is possible as “investors like the idea of investing in housing because it is a 

stable asset class… [and they] want to have a socially responsible mandate”. Paul Hardisty 

from QSH argued that the advantage of this model is that it is “not covered by the rent 

reductions, the Right to Buy or anything like that. If you want long-term affordable rented 

housing, you can have that because our models are not covered by HCA guidance”. A future 

Housing Strategy should look at ways to encourage boroughs to work with private 

investors who want to invest in affordable rented housing, subject to the same 

conditions as would be afforded to a housing association or charity.  

 

The challenge of affordability 

 

How affordable is affordable? 

As the definition of affordability becomes increasingly complex, stretching from social rents 

through to Starter Homes, the Mayoralty must ensure that the term is still meaningful to 

people who are struggling with the high costs of living in London. Denise Brown from the 

William Street Quarter Tenants’ Association (WSQTA) outlined the problems this can raise as 

people on housing waiting lists “are working but they still cannot afford to live in the houses 

that we have on our estate because they do not earn enough money”. This could have the 

biggest impact on mixed and balanced communities in central London, since, as Dolphin 

Living points out, for example, “eighty per cent of Westminster rents [do] not look terribly 

affordable”.  We heard from David Lunts, Executive Director for Housing and Land at the 

GLA, about how this confusion led in the past to the introduction of discounted and capped 

rents under the Mayor’s 2015-18 Affordable Homes Programme. A future Housing 

Strategy must examine the need for additional guidance to ensure that affordable 

homes for rent are meeting the needs of tenants with a variety of incomes.  

 

Using income-based approaches to rent-setting 

Affordable housing providers are finding innovative ways to keep their books balanced while 

ensuring that homes are affordable for new tenants. We heard that this comes from focusing 

first on tenant needs. For example, on the New Era Estate in Hackney, Dolphin Living 

operates an income-based “personalised rents” system, having promised residents the 

introduction of “a rent policy that was ‘demonstrably fair’”.  The 80 per cent of tenants who 

have opted into this system must pay a fixed 30 per cent of their income on rent, reviewed 

every three years, with disposable income calculated according to the Joseph Rowntree 

Foundation minimum income standards statistics. The City of Westminster took a similar 

approach when developing their ‘Fair Share Housing Scheme’, looking at people’s earnings 

and the need for homes close to jobs, asking “What do we have to do to make that possible 

here?” The Scheme will enable two-couples sharing to afford to live in areas such as in central 

Westminster on the London Living Wage, ensuring that people can continue to live close to 

Page 61



 

 
- 4 - 

 

their jobs. On our site visit, we heard how Barking and Dagenham are prioritising new housing 

for people in work who are struggling due to inflated London prices. In support of this aim, 

they are using prefabrication techniques at William Street Quarter to bring down the cost of 

construction.  The future Housing Strategy should set out ways to encourage 

innovative models such as these and assess how far new approaches to 

affordability, including income-based approaches, would work across London. 

 

Strengthening the role of Section 106 agreements 

Section 106 agreements between local authorities and developers could be used to ensure 

that new build housing remains affordable into the future. Cheyne Capital outlined that their 

objective “is to have long-term, perpetual housing that is affordable for our communities”, 

pointing to a scheme in Luton where the S106 agreement ensures that the stock will remain 

affordable in perpetuity. QSH told us that they were also “comfortable” with the idea of 

retaining their stock as affordable in perpetuity. However, we heard significant concerns that 

the role of S106 agreements in developing affordable housing is diminishing in importance, 

particularly with the introduction of Starter Homes. Genesis argued that Starter Homes form 

part of a system that allows developers to “run rings around local authorities”, suggesting 

that this is “another ring that [developers] will be able to use to avoid… section 106 

schemes”. Octavia argued that “if developers get the opportunity to sell properties at 

£450,000 rather than the price with which we can support affordable rents, why would they 

not do that?” With this in mind, Family Mosaic’s call for the Mayoralty to bring 

forward “clearer and more definite” guidance on the level of affordable homes 

expected in new developments is particularly urgent. 

 

The challenge of land-use 

 

Challenging high land costs in central London 

The high cost of land is one of the biggest challenges facing affordable housing providers and 

City Hall will need to be proactive in managing this problem. The City of Westminster told us 

that their experience is that capital is easy to come across but “it is the cost of land and how 

you… value that land for the use of affordable housing” which is the problem. Competition is 

escalating the cost of land, as Cheyne Capital told us, meaning that affordable housing 

providers “cannot compete with somebody who is going to sell it overseas for £2,500 a square 

metre when you are charging £120 a week in rent”. Genesis argued that even where land is 

acquired, the cost can make up almost a third of the total spending on a new development. 

This problem is particularly acute in central London. Genesis told us that buying land in Zones 

1 and 2 for affordable housing schemes is “nigh well impossible”, leading it to look to outer 

London and even outside of London to find cheaper land. As was recommended by the 

Planning Committee, 4 the new Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance encourages land 

valuation based on its existing use, with a small premium attached to incentivise a landowner 

to sell.5 However, in order to sustain mixed and balanced communities, more action may be 

needed to ensure that affordable housing providers are able to access land in central London. 

 

 

                                                 
4 Planning Committee, February 2016, ‘The need for Supplementary Planning Guidance on Viability 
Assessments’ 
5 Greater London Authority, 2016, Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance 

Page 62

http://tinyurl.com/jmk4ahh
http://tinyurl.com/jmk4ahh
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/housing_spg_final.pdf


 

 
- 5 - 

 

 

Opening up small pockets of land 

Resolving the dilemma of how to quickly develop affordable homes requires innovative ideas. 

YMCA London South West told us about their pioneering Y:Cube scheme in Mitcham, which 

consists of 36 fast-to-build modular homes costing “around £52,000 per cube, built, 

delivered on-site, and… affordable, therefore, also for people to rent”. These units could be 

built on small brownfield sites as temporary housing for up to five years while the site itself 

passes through the planning process. We heard some concern about the small size of the 

Y:Cube, at just 26m2, with Denise Brown (from the WSQTA) and the City of Westminster 

warning that building fast and cheap should not come at the expense of space standards. The 

Committee agrees with this view, but we support the YMCA’s call for better access to small 

pockets of land to continue to deliver affordable temporary housing.  

 

Innovation on the sale of publicly-owned land 

New thinking is also needed on the best use of publicly-owned land in London, particularly on 

how land should be used to provide new affordable homes for rent. Dolphin Living 

emphasised that the issue of public land allocation is “fundamental”, and along with the City 

of Westminster, urged a move away from freehold sale to leasehold sale. On our site visit, the 

Committee saw how Barking and Dagenham Reside Ltd. has ensured that the privately 

delivered affordable housing at William Street Quarter will eventually revert to the council 

along with the leasehold. As an alternative, Cheyne Capital argued that the public sector 

could allocate land directly to affordable housing providers, outside of a S106 agreement, so 

that they can avoid being “tied to the developer’s delivery timetable… and [therefore this] 

would allow for much faster delivery”. A future Housing Strategy should set out a 

number of different options to make best long-term use of publicly-owned land.   

 

I am copying David Lunts into this letter in the hope that he finds the observations and expert 

views presented here useful in preparation for a future Housing Strategy. The full transcripts 

from the Committee’s meetings and a note of the site visit are available using the links below:  

 

 19 November 2015- http://tinyurl.com/hk9nxjl  

 19 January 2016- http://tinyurl.com/jgp5ukq  

 Site Visit to Barking and Dagenham, 15 December 2015- http://tinyurl.com/h5uj9uv  

 

 

Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Tom Copley AM 

Chair of the London Assembly Housing Committee 

 
Cc:   David Lunts, Executive Director Housing and Land, GLA 

 

Page 63

http://tinyurl.com/hk9nxjl
http://tinyurl.com/jgp5ukq
http://tinyurl.com/h5uj9uv


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: The Impact of Rent Stabilisation on 
London’s Tenants and Landlords 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 7 June 2016  
 

This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This paper asks the Committee to note its report on the impact of rent stabilisation on London’s 

tenants and landlords, At Home with Renting: Improving security for London’s private renters, and a 

response received about it from Boris Johnson MP, the former Mayor of London. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes its report on the impact of rent stabilisation on London’s 

tenants and landlords, At Home with Renting, as attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 

2.2 That the Committee notes the response received about the report from the former Mayor, 

Boris Johnson MP, as attached at Appendix 2 to the report.  

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 At its meeting on 23 June 2015, the Committee agreed to investigate the effect of rent stabilisation 

measures on London’s housing market as part of its work programme for the first part of the 

2015/16 Assembly year.  The Committee also agreed to recommend that the GLA Oversight 

Committee authorise expenditure to commission the Cambridge Centre for Housing and Planning 

Research (CCHPR) to carry out research in support of the investigation. 

  

3.2 At its meeting on 16 July 2015, the Committee agreed the following terms of reference for the 

investigation: 

 Assess the current structure of London’s private rented sector and how it is changing; 

 Establish the range of rent stabilisation measures which are applied in major cities; 

 Determine the likely impact of such measures, were they applied now in London, on: 

 Private rental prices; 

 Private rented sector supply (now and in the future); 

Page 65

Agenda Item 9



        

 The wider London housing market; and 

 The quality of London’s housing stock. 

   

3.3 Officers confirm that the report and its recommendations fall within these terms of reference. 

3.4 The Committee held scrutiny sessions, with panels of invited experts, for this investigation at its 

formal meetings on 1 September and 8 October 2015.  The research output commissioned from 

CCHPR was circulated to Members prior to the second of these meetings and formed the basis for 

discussion at that session.  

3.5 At its meeting on 19 January 2016, the Committee agreed to delegate authority to the Chair, in 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, to agree the Committee’s report on the effect of rent 

stabilisation measures on London’s housing market. 

 

 
4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 The Committee is recommended to formally note its report Growing, growing, gone: Long-term 

sustainable growth for London, as attached at Appendix 1.  The report was agreed, following 

consultation with party Group Lead Members, by the Chair under delegated authority.  See 

Agenda Item 8 for more information about this delegation of authority.  

  

4.2 Following agreement under delegated authority, the report was published on 3 March 2016.   

4.3 The report contains a minority dissenting opinion from the GLA Conservatives Group: see 

Appendix 1 within the report. 

4.4 The report makes the following recommendations to the next Mayor of London: 

 

Recommendation 1 

An incoming Mayor should lobby government for a delegated power to introduce appropriate rent 

stabilisation measures in London.  The Mayor should then pilot a London-wide stabilisation regime, 

based on a default three-year tenancy, set initially at market rent but with annual rent reviews 

limited to the increase in the consumer price index.  At the end of the three years, the rental price 

would revert to the market level.  If the pilot is successful, the Mayor should then consider whether 

the default tenancy period could be five years. 

 

Recommendation 2 

An incoming Mayor should set up a London-wide register of landlords.  Such a register would help 

the boroughs enforce existing legislation but would also inform market analyses by all those involved 

with London’s private rented sector, including developers and investors, the boroughs and tenants.  

[A majority of] The Committee wholeheartedly supports Dame Angela Watkinson MP’s Private 

Members’ Bill (Local Government Finance (Tenure Information) Bill 2015) currently in Parliament (as 

do many London MPs, including the Mayor), seeking to secure a mechanism for gathering landlord 

contact details.  However, we fear that the Bill may not progress beyond its current stage in 

Parliament, in which case separate action needs to be taken.1 

                                                 
1 Update: as per Parliament’s website, the Bill did not progress beyond its First Reading: 
http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2015-16/localgovernmentfinancetenureinformation.html  

Page 66

http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2015-16/localgovernmentfinancetenureinformation.html


        

 

 

Recommendation 3 

An incoming Mayor should review and report on the potential to scale new ways of injecting 

transparency into private rental market, connecting tenants and landlords. 

 

Recommendation 4 

In support of the new build to let sector, an incoming Mayor should champion new institutional 

landlords and investors within the sector which already offer longer tenancies and predictable rent 

rises, especially any which rent to families. 

 

Recommendation 5 

Longer term, the new Mayor should lobby government to develop a dedicated planning use class for 

build to let which would enable new professional landlords to compete for development land on a 

level playing field, rather than competing with developers for market sale. 

 

Recommendation 6 

In support of London’s low-income renters, an incoming Mayor should lobby the Government to 

review the freeze imposed on Local Housing Allowance levels in London, to alleviate the acute 

affordability problems faced by private renters in receipt of housing benefit. 

 

4.5 In early March, the Chair wrote to the then Mayor, Boris Johnson MP, outlining the key findings 

from the report.  The former Mayor’s response is attached at Appendix 2 to this report.   

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 
 

 

List of appendices to this report: 
Appendix 1 – At Home with Renting: Improving security for London’s private renters 
Appendix 2 – Letter from the Mayor of London, Boris Johnson MP, in response to At Home with Renting  
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  

 

Research on the effect of rent stabilisation measures in London, Clarke, A. et al (Cambridge Centre for 

Housing and Planning Research). 

 

Contact Officer: Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4394 

E-mail: scrutiny@london.gov.uk    

 

Page 67

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Housing Committee 

At Home with Renting 
Improving security for London’s private renters 

March 2016 

Appendix 1

Page 69



  

2 

 

Housing Committee Members 
  

Tom Copley (Chair) Labour 

Darren Johnson (Deputy Chair) Green  

Andrew Boff  Conservative  

Nicky Gavron Labour 

Stephen Knight  Liberal Democrat  

Steve O’Connell Conservative 

Fiona Twycross Labour 

 

Role of the London Assembly Housing Committee 
The Assembly holds the Mayor to account by examining his decisions and 
actions to ensure he delivers on his promises to Londoners.  The Housing 
Committee scrutinises the Mayor’s role and record in delivering the 
private, social and affordable homes London needs.  It has recently 
investigated shared ownership homes, student housing, estate 
regeneration and gypsy and traveller sites. 

 

Media Contact: 
Ben Walker 
e: ben.walker@london.gov.uk 
t: 020 7983 5769 
 
Scrutiny Contact: 
Lorraine Ford 
e: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 
t: 020 7983 4000 

©Greater London Authority March 2016 
 
 Page 70



  

3 

Contents 

Chair’s Foreword 4 

Summary 6 

Part 1:  London’s Private Rented Sector Today 9 

Part 2:  Do We Need to Act? 14 

Part 3:  How Would the Market React to Stabilisation Measures? 24 

Part 4:  So What Should We Do? 29 

Appendix 1 Minority Report of the GLA Conservatives 33 

Appendix 2 Conduct of the Investigation 34 

Appendix 3 International Rent and Tenure Regulations 36 

Appendix 4 The Rent Stabilisation Scenarios Modelled 37 

Orders and translations 38 

 
 

 Page 71



  

4 

Chair’s Foreword 

London’s private rented sector has witnessed 
extraordinary growth over recent years. 
Whereas nearly one in six London households 
rented privately at the turn of the century, 
today that figure is nearer one in three.  

As a result of its remarkable expansion, 
London’s private rented sector has changed. 
The typical profile of a private tenant is no 
longer the student or young person who 
values the sector’s flexibility and short-term 

tenancy conditions. Increasingly, with the number of children in private 
rented accommodation tripling to over half a million in the ten years to 
2014, it is the family that needs stability for their children or the young 
professional who is locked out of homeownership because of high house 
prices and high private rents that make saving for a deposit ever more 
difficult. 

But despite the seismic changes that have occurred to the sector, the 
regulations that govern it have remained largely unaltered since the 
1980s. The status quo is no longer acceptable; London’s private rented 
sector needs modernisation to make it fit for the future. 

This report sets out that there is a better alternative possible for London 
renters. 

England’s private rented sector is near unique among western economies 
in offering tenants just short-term tenancies, with no predictability in 
regards to rental outgoings or protections against baseless evictions. Yet, 
the argument that better standards for tenants would lead to fewer 
homes simply does not stack up against international comparisons and 
the evidence commissioned for this report. London’s private rented 
sector, though growing, is relatively unremarkable in size compared to 
other major European cities, despite the weaker regulations protecting 
tenants in London. The economic modelling produced for this report also 
shows that light-touch regulation would have a negligible impact on 
London’s private rented sector. 

The overwhelming majority of the growth in London’s private rented 
sector has been at the expense of homeownership, rather than delivering 

 Page 72



  

5 

new homes that contribute to the 48,841 new homes London needs to 
build every year for the next two decades. 

The evidence produced for this report shows that the sector is expected 
to increase from just under a million homes today to over 1.4 million in 
the next decade, dragging more and more families into the sector as it 
potentially becomes the largest housing tenure in London. Setting aside 
the problems we face in the private rented sector today, the prospect of 
London’s largest housing tenure offering just six months to a year’s 
security, no predictability over rental costs, and the possibility of eviction 
at the whim of a landlord, is simply unsustainable and unfair to 
Londoners. 

This report calls for the creation of a private rented sector that is fit for 
purpose, through the introduction of longer three-year tenancies, moving 
towards five years in the longer term, with annual rental increases limited 
to inflation. Many institutional landlords have already introduced such 
tenancies of their own accord, showing that this system can work for 
landlords and their investors, as well as tenants.  

The status quo is no longer acceptable to Londoners. This report outlines 
that there is a viable alternative to perpetual insecurity. 

 

 

 

Tom Copley AM 
Chair, London Assembly Housing Committee 

 Page 73



  

6 

Summary 

What is the problem? 
London’s private rented sector has grown significantly over recent years.  
In just ten years, the private rented sector (PRS) has increased from 16 
per cent to 27 per cent of London’s housing stock, largely at the expense 
of homeownership.  Private renting can offer a range of positives for 
London.  Most notably, it represents an efficient use of housing stock, 
because most people only rent what they really need.  But the sector 
needs to work well in the interests of Londoners.  Our PRS stock is 
primarily owned by amateur landlords, rather than professionals or 
institutions, and is not subject to the statutory oversight which covers the 
social rented sector.  We don’t know who many of London’s landlords 
are, or even how many there are, because they are not required to 
register with an authority.  Weak enforcement of existing regulation, and 
demand greatly outstripping supply, combines with this lack of 
transparency to result in parts of our PRS offering the worst housing 
conditions of any tenure, and at high prices.  The Mayor has tried to 
address some of the sector’s problems through his London Rental 
Standard, but this has not gained any traction. 

Increasing London’s housing supply is a key imperative which would help 
to tackle this situation.  Purpose-built homes for rent both add to the 
stock of homes and offer professional management, but have so far been 
slow to take on.  The immediate higher profits to be made in developing 
homes for sale, rather than for rent, is a major contributory factor, so 
support for developing build to let homes would help.  However, homes 
take time to build, particularly on the scale needed in London, so we also 
need to act now. 

Many Londoners are now living in the PRS longer-term and more types of 
household now rely on it – it is no longer just a temporary and flexible 
solution for students and early-career professionals.  Many more 
vulnerable people are now placed in the PRS, and the number of London 
children in privately rented households tripled in the ten years to 2014, to 
over half a million.  What these new private renter households need is a 
home with stability and predictable rent, but existing regulation and 
market conditions offer them little support in negotiating this with 
landlords.  Although many landlords are happy to keep good tenants, 
offering decent conditions and reasonable rents, some do not, taking 
advantage of their market power. 

 Page 74



  

7 

Because there is little rigorous research around rent stabilisation 
measures, we commissioned the Cambridge Centre for Housing and 
Planning Research to undertake some modelling and two small surveys of 
landlords, investors and developers active in the PRS.  This has helped us 
to explore further what could be done in support of longer-term renters. 

The modelling we commissioned indicates that London’s PRS can be 
expected to grow by 50 per cent in the ten years to 2025.  All the light-
touch stabilisation measures we considered, based on predictable rents 
and longer tenancies, are projected to have little impact on this growth 
(though an actual cut in rents could have a significant effect).  When 
asked directly, though, the landlords we sampled say they are more 
worried than the modelling would suggest.  But they are interested in 
offering more security if tax incentives are available. 

What should we do? 
London needs a changed private rental culture which provides better for 
longer-term renters without discouraging longer-term investment in the 
sector.  It is unlikely that this change will occur organically or quickly 
enough of its own accord.  However, some of the new build to let 
landlords who have entered the market have put in place the light-touch 
stabilisation measures we explored of their own accord.  They have 
demonstrated that they can make light-touch stabilisation measures, 
such as longer tenancies and predictable rent increases, work for 
themselves, their investors and their tenants. 

Following their lead, we think now is the time to introduce such measures 
as standard.  We are not proposing here the old-fashioned hard rent 
controls which investors say they fear.  What we are proposing, is a 
limited package of stabilising measures, nudging the PRS towards the 
changed rental culture which many Londoners now need.  This would 
take the form of a new default rental contract of three years, with initial 
rents set by the market, and increases limited to the consumer price 
index. 

Such measures are not designed primarily to address housing 
affordability, which is an acute problem for many Londoners.  The 
Government plans a four-year freeze in housing benefit from April this 
year, which will hit low-income renters badly.  It must urgently review this 
freeze to ensure things don’t get worse. 

The introduction of a London register of landlords should be an 
immediate action regardless of rent reform.  This would allow policy-

 Page 75



  

8 

makers and others to understand the private rental market much better, 
helping build the case for investment and development, as well as 
supporting landlords and the boroughs to improve standards in the 
sector. 

And in support of the new build to let sector, we need a dedicated 
planning use class, so that developers and investors for rent are not 
competing with those looking to sell for owner-occupation. 

This report represents the view of a majority of the Committee.  The GLA 
Conservative Members’ dissenting views are set out in a minority opinion 
in Appendix 1 of this report. 

 

 

 Page 76



  

9 

Part 1:  London’s Private Rented 
Sector Today 

A phenomenal growth story 
London’s private rented sector (PRS) has seen phenomenal growth over 
the last decade and especially since 2009.  More than one quarter of 
London households (27 per cent) now rent privately, up from 16 per cent 
in 2004.1  This compares with about 20 per cent of the population 
nationally.2  London is also the only region with more households 
privately renting (776,000) than owning homes outright (690,000).3  And 
the rise of the PRS is set to continue: well over one third of London’s 
population is expected to be renting privately by 2025.4 

Population growth, net migration (notably increasing the number of 
young adults) and a mobile younger workforce have all contributed to 
increased demand for homes in the PRS.  Growth has also been fuelled by 
soaring house prices and high transaction costs, which have made home 
ownership increasingly unaffordable, despite historically low interest 
rates.  This rise in house prices has also drawn more investors into the 
sector as residential property becomes a more attractive investment 
prospect in a low growth, low interest rate environment. This growth in 
the lettings market drives house prices still higher, squeezing out would-
be owner occupiers. 

A variable picture 
Although all London’s boroughs have seen their PRS grow in size, these 
changes have not been evenly spread across the capital.  In the past, the 
highest concentrations of private renting have been in inner London, and 
it is still the case that Westminster is the local authority with the greatest 
number of private renters in the country.  However, other boroughs, 
especially outer boroughs, have experienced far greater growth, albeit 
from a lower base.  Barking & Dagenham’s PRS, for example, has tripled 
in size over the decade to 2011; Tower Hamlets, Hackney, Enfield and 

1 Source: GLA analysis of the Labour Force Survey (2004 and 2014) 
2 The English Housing Survey indicates that 19 per cent of households were privately 
renting in 2013-14 

3 A Century of Home Ownership and Renting in England and Wales, Office for National 
Statistics, Apr 2013 

4 Mayor’s Housing Covenant: Making the private rented sector work for Londoners, GLA, 
Dec 2012 

 

                                                                 

Page 77

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census-analysis/a-century-of-home-ownership-and-renting-in-england-and-wales/short-story-on-housing.html
http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/census/2011-census-analysis/a-century-of-home-ownership-and-renting-in-england-and-wales/short-story-on-housing.html


  

10 

Greenwich have all seen at least a doubling in their PRS in absolute 
terms.5 

Rent in London is very high, but there is also considerable price variation 
across the capital: the lower quartile rent in the three most expensive 
boroughs (Westminster, Kensington & Chelsea and Camden) is double 
that of the three cheapest boroughs (Barking & Dagenham, Havering and 
Bexley).  Within boroughs there can also be wide disparities.  This does 
not just apply in inner London, where extremes might be expected (in 
Westminster, for example, the median rent for a two-bedroom property 
in Mayfair W1 is around three times that in Westbourne Green W9).  In 
Hounslow, in outer London, the median rent for a two-bedroom property 
in Turnham Green W4 is also more than 50 per cent above that in East 
Bedfont TW14.6  

A fragmented market dominated by amateur landlords 
Unlike in some other countries, most owners of UK private rental homes 
are amateur or ‘accidental’,7 rather than professional, landlords.  Letting 
property provides a supplementary income to their day job rather than it 
being a full-time occupation, and they tend to be interested primarily in 
capital appreciation rather than rental income, especially in London, given 
the capital’s high house price inflation.  It is difficult to determine exactly 
how many landlords fall into these categories as they do not currently 
need to register, but a Department for Communities and Local 
Government study in 2010 found that nine in ten PRS landlords in 
England are private individuals rather than companies, with three 
quarters owning only a single property.8  According to Carter Jonas, only 
one per cent of London landlords manage more than ten units.9  This 
fragmentation not only means that the market is difficult to communicate 
with, but also that landlords are unable to realise the economies of scale 
and associated efficiencies routinely achieved in many other industries, 
often leading to “poor management and customer service standards.”10 

Although private landlords do not need to register before renting, some 
50 Acts of Parliament and 70 sets of regulations apply to the PRS, 
establishing a complicated framework within which these amateur 

5 See London’s PRS Growth, Future of London, 20 Jul 2015, for more detail on this 
6 London Rents Map (accessed 26 Nov 2015), based on Valuations Office Agency data 
7 For example those who have inherited property or let out their own home because 
they have moved abroad 

8 Private Landlords Survey 2010, Department for Communities and Local Government, 
Oct 2011 

9 The Future of London’s Private Rented Sector, Carter Jonas, Spring 2015 
10 Private Rented Sector: plugging the gap, DTZ, Summer 2015 

 

                                                                 

Page 78

http://www.futureoflondon.org.uk/2015/07/20/londons-prs-growth/?utm_source=Future+of+London+monthly+update&utm_campaign=ff2854bd48-July2015_monthly_update&utm_medium=email&utm_term=0_c07db14b36-ff2854bd48-102301697
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing-and-land/renting/london-rents-map
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7249/2010380.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7249/2010380.pdf
http://www.carterjonas.co.uk/%7E/media/C34F3647921C444E92DB9F3C5C210735.ashx
http://www.dtz.com/StaticFiles/UK/Private_Rented_Sector_plugging_the_gap.pdf?hootPostID=dc0f27c939ea2bc91ba287b0c60d39ef


  

11 

landlords must work.  However, there is no statutory regulation or 
oversight. This contrasts with the social housing sector, which is regulated 
by the Homes and Communities Agency. Instead, the PRS is self-
regulating, and a plethora of accreditation schemes promoted by trade 
bodies exists.  In London, the Mayor’s London Rental Standard (LRS) is an 
overarching badge covering seven such schemes.  These schemes and the 
LRS framework offer useful guidance and training to support landlords in 
navigating their responsibilities, but are entirely voluntary.  Local 
authorities may, under certain conditions, apply to introduce limited 
licensing schemes, and some in London have, but, for the most part, local 
enforcement of the regulatory framework is weak, and made more 
difficult because of the lack of a landlord register. 

The Mayor’s London Rental Standard 
The London Rental Standard (LRS) is a voluntary accreditation scheme, 
aimed at improving standards in the private rented sector and launched 
by the Mayor in May 2014.  It provides a single framework for seven 
existing accreditation schemes and requires accredited landlords and 
letting agents to offer improved property conditions, fee transparency, 
better communication between landlords and tenants, and improved 
maintenance and repair response times.  In return they are offered a 
deal on insurance and with a deposit protection scheme, a discount on 
some licensing schemes (where they exist) and access to trade pricing 
on some DIY materials and tools. 
 
So far, however, only around 2,000 landlords and agents have signed 
up (aside from those who had already been accredited via the 
participating schemes) – some 15,000 in all out of London’s estimated 
300,000 landlords.  The scheme is targeting 100,000 accreditations by 
2016.11 
 

Our evidence suggests that amateur and accidental landlords tend to be 
risk-averse and can be very sensitive to changes in regulation, taxation 
and interest rates.  In the words of one of our contributors: “it does not 
take a lot to spook them”.12  However, for many landlords, rental receipts 
actually represent a small part of their overall income: a large majority 
(79 per cent) of landlords nationally earned less than a quarter of their 

11 The Mayor has recently rewritten this target.  It no longer refers to the number of 
landlords to be accredited, instead committing the Mayor to seeing 100,000 properties 
accredited 

12 Kate Faulkner, Independent Property Commentator and Analyst, Evidence to the 
London Assembly Housing Committee, 1 Sept 2015 p29 

 

                                                                 

Page 79

http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13032/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Tuesday%2001-Sep-2015%2010.00%20Housing%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13032/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Tuesday%2001-Sep-2015%2010.00%20Housing%20Committee.pdf?T=9


  

12 

income from letting properties,13 and a Shelter/Strategic Society survey in 
2013 found that more than six in ten think they could cope for a year if 
their income dropped by a quarter,14 so they appear, in the main, to be 
pretty financially resilient because they have other sources of income. 

New market entrants show potential 
At the other end of the scale from the amateur landlords, a small but 
burgeoning purpose-built PRS has the potential to play an important role.  
Until the 1970s, pension funds, insurers and charities were all substantial 
players in UK residential property for rent.  Since then, a combination of 
factors, including relatively low yields, a lack of transparency, few 
development opportunities at scale and hard rent regulation in the past 
are all said to have presented barriers to nurturing and increasing 
institutional investment.  However, in recent years, intense demand for 
new rented homes, more stable residential returns (now outperforming 
those of commercial property) and low interest rates (reducing the 
appeal of other asset classes) have meant that investor sentiment is 
changing.  “Anything that gives us a good proxy for earnings is a good 
investment medium for us, provided that the risks are appropriate.”15 

While this gives reasons for optimism, scale is the issue. According to 
Molior, a residential development consultancy, there was a 20,000 home 
pipeline of purpose-built PRS in London in August 2015.  The current 
impact of such landlords is therefore limited – there are around a million 
PRS homes in London.  But the opportunity is clear, and the Mayor is 
aiming to see 5,000 such homes delivered annually.16 

One enduring issue with developing this sector is that the prices of homes 
for sale tend to accelerate faster than rents.  This means that developers 
building for sale can usually outbid those building for rent when buying 
land, and yields on rents over time tend to fall, not rise.  Nonetheless, a 
growing number of operators are beginning to enter the market and 
some innovative mechanisms, such as covenants, are being piloted to 
level the playing field for the more patient investor/developer capital 
seeking an income stream from rent.  Ultimately a dedicated Planning 
Use Class for new private rental homes would be beneficial, but in the 

13 Private Landlords Survey 2010, Department for Communities and Local Government, 
Oct 2011, Annex Table 2.5a 

14 Understanding Landlords, Strategic Society, Jul 2013 
15 Alan Collett, M&G Real Estate, Evidence to the London Assembly Housing Committee, 
1 Sept 2015 p14 

16 Homes for London, GLA, June 2014 

 

                                                                 

Page 80

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/7250/2010393.xls
http://strategicsociety.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/07/Lord-C-Lloyd-J-and-Barnes-M-2013-Understanding-Landlords.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13032/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Tuesday%2001-Sep-2015%2010.00%20Housing%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13032/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Tuesday%2001-Sep-2015%2010.00%20Housing%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/housing-and-land/housing-strategy/mayors-housing-strategy


  

13 

interim, the Montague Report,17 for example, recommended the use of 
covenants to ensure new homes would remain in the PRS for at least ten 
years.  The Mayor has begun to make use of this type of mechanism, for 
example in a development at the Royal Docks.  

A mixed bag of pros and cons 
The PRS offers flexibility and affordability to many.  Many people like to 
share, and some who could afford to buy choose instead to rent.  The PRS 
is also a very efficient user of housing stock with high occupancy rates.  
M&G, for example, told us that their private rented flats had void periods 
around one sixth of those in the social sector.  The flipside of this is that 
overcrowding is common, with landlords increasingly sub-dividing homes 
to squeeze more tenants in.  London renters are four times more likely to 
be overcrowded than owner occupiers.18  Moreover, due to a 
proportional increase as well as the growth of the sector, people in 
poverty are more likely now to live in the PRS than in other tenures 
(whereas a decade ago it was the least common tenure among those in 
poverty). 19 

17 Review of the Barriers to Institutional Investment in Private Rented Homes, DCLG, Aug 
2012 
18 Housing in London 2015, GLA, Sept 2015 
19 London’s Poverty Profile 2015, Trust for London/New Policy Institute 

 

                                                                 

Page 81

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15547/montague_review.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/15547/montague_review.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/housing_in_london_2015.pdf
http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/2015_LPP_Document_01.7-web%255b2%255d.pdf


  

14 

Part 2:  Do We Need to Act? 

Our rental and lettings culture needs to move on 
For many years the PRS has been a relatively comfortable temporary 
home for young professionals who value its flexibility, but it has not been 
a tenure of aspiration.  Assured Shorthold Tenancies (ASTs) of six to 
twelve months (which facilitate mobility, allowing tenants to change jobs 
and try out new areas to live) and sharing (either with friends or new 
flatmates) have been acceptable, potentially desirable, features.  A lack of 
professionalism among many landlords, together with short-term 
tenants, perhaps seeking somewhere to stay, but not a home, has 
spawned a culture of renting based, in the main, around a relatively 
‘cheap and cheerful’ product offering a temporary tenure.  However, 
intense demand, combined with the widening reach of today’s PRS, mean 
that features and relationships which may have worked well in the past 
for many are beginning to constitute real problems.  People are renting 
for longer, some through choice, many because they cannot afford to 
buy.  For example, EasyRoommate, a flatsharing website, reports that 
although students were their key audience ten years ago, young 
professionals now account for some two thirds of their market, with an 
average age of 27.5.  They are seeing interest from renters in their 30s 
and 40s too.20   

In particular, many more London families are now living longer-term in 
the PRS: one third of PRS households had dependent children in 2014, 
compared with only one fifth ten years earlier.  This contrasts starkly with 
stability over the period in the number of children in owner occupation 
homes, and a slight decline in those in the social rented sector.  The 
absolute numbers are even more striking than the percentage because of 
the proportional growth in private renting: 285,000 households with 
children in 2014, compared with 95,000 in 2004.  The GLA estimates that 
the number of children in London’s PRS has more than tripled, to over 
half a million.21  The growth trend of the PRS, and of families within it, is 
expected to continue, all other things being equal, so more and more 
families will rely on the PRS in future. 

Over three quarters of London’s children living in poverty are in rented 
accommodation.  While the number of those in the social sector is on a 

20 Source: EasyRoommate, 16 Dec 2015, Rooms to Rent: Flatsharing in 2015 and beyond, 
accessed 25 Jan 2016 

21 GLA analysis of the Labour Force Survey, 2004 and 2014.  The number of children has 
grown from 160,000 in 2004 to 505,000 in 2014 

 

                                                                 

Page 82

http://blog.easyroommate.com/rooms-to-rent-flat-sharing-in-2015-and-beyond/


  

15 

downward trend, the number of those in the PRS has been growing for a 
decade, reaching a quarter of a million in 2011-12.22  This undoubtedly 
reflects the changing balance of London’s housing tenures, but also the 
increasing proportion of families on low incomes who are renting 
privately.  Overcrowding levels in the PRS are also rising relentlessly and 
have more than doubled since the mid-1990s.23 

Young people have always come to London and ‘dossed down in bedsits’ 
but that is a very different thing to increasing numbers of families living in 
overcrowded conditions, wondering when they will next have to move.  If 
we are to house more families and, indeed, older single people and 
couples, successfully in the PRS it seems likely we shall need many 
landlords to become more professional, and tenants may need to take a 
greater degree of responsibility for the product they are purchasing.  
What families need is stability and predictability; we must find a way to 
ensure London’s PRS offers this. 

Affordability issues 
The Mayor assesses a household as being able to afford private rented 
housing if the lower quartile rent for the number of bedrooms it needs is 
less than one quarter of its gross income, or 30 per cent if the household 
earns more than £40,000.24  London’s housing charities, developers, 
employers and investors all agree that around one third of pay is a 
manageable proportion of income to spend on housing costs.  Londoners 
in the PRS, by contrast, are currently spending, on average, 59 per cent 
of their income after benefits on rent.25   

Research undertaken for London First, which represents London’s leading 
employers, finds that people working in the food and drink industries 
would have to spend 112 per cent of their income to afford an average 
rental, while care workers would spend 99 per cent of theirs.  Even 
lawyers and accountants spend 40 per cent of their salary on rent.26 

22 London’s Poverty Profile 2015, Trust for London/New Policy Institute 
23 The proportion of London’s privately renting households judged to be overcrowded 
according to the bedroom standard rose from under six per cent in 1995-6 to 13 per 
cent in 2012-13.  Source: DCLG Survey of English Housing and English Housing Survey 
cited in Housing in London 2015, GLA, Sept 2015 

24 2013 London Strategic Housing Market Assessment, GLA, Jan 2014 
25 This compares with 38 per cent of income spent by those living outside London.  
Source: English Housing Survey 2013-14 Household Report, Office for National Statistics 

26 Employee exodus: The housing crisis is now a dire threat to the future of London’s 
businesses, City AM, 12 Oct 15 

 

                                                                 

Page 83

http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/2015_LPP_Document_01.7-web%255b2%255d.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/housing_in_london_2015.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/461447/Chapter_4_Private_renters.pdf
http://www.cityam.com/226307/employee-exodus-housing-crisis-now-dire-threat-future-london-s-businesses
http://www.cityam.com/226307/employee-exodus-housing-crisis-now-dire-threat-future-london-s-businesses


  

16 

There are many sub-markets which make up the demand for London’s 
PRS.  The rapid growth of the sector also means that it now houses 
people from all income groups, ages and occupations, with differing 
expectations and needs.  Despite this, of course, renters from many of 
these sub-markets will compete with each other for the available stock.  
This complicates affordability data, because the proportion of income 
spent on a given property by a family with one wage earner will be 
completely different from that spent by a group of four sharers, for 
example.  Renting on a single income is impossible for many. 

At present some 270,000 private renters in London rely on housing 
benefit to afford the rent and, of these, more than half (140,000) are now 
in work.27   Most will experience a real-terms reduction in their benefits 
as Local Housing Allowance (LHA)28 will now be frozen until 2020, and this 
freeze comes on the back of a series of changes since 2011 which capped 
the amount payable for a given property size, so fewer homes were 
covered by the benefit.29  These changes probably go some way towards 
explaining the dramatic increases in the PRS experienced in outer, 
especially the outer East, London boroughs, where prices are cheaper. 
People on housing benefit are increasingly looking for accommodation in 
cheaper parts of the city.  It seems likely that this trend will continue. 

A need for longer tenancies 
Most commonly, the AST is currently offered for six to twelve months.  
Due to a lack of robust data on the rental market it is difficult to assess 
with any certainty the demand for longer tenancies.  Available statistics 
tell us that most tenancies do end when the tenant leaves, rather than 
through an eviction process, but there is no evidence to indicate whether 
the tenancy was ended because of a poor relationship with the landlord, 
sudden rent hike or bad conditions, rather than through free choice. 

There is evidence, however, that some tenants have been cautious in 
accepting longer leases. In the build to let sector, a few developers and 
investors have reported limited demand for tenancies longer than a year.  
At the Stratford Halo development adjacent to the Olympic Park, for 
example, 15 per cent of new tenants took up a three-year tenancy 
despite it being widely advertised. 

27 London’s Poverty Profile 2015, Trust for London/New Policy Institute 
28 The housing benefit paid to those living in the PRS 
29 For example, the average two-bed rent in Southwark was £1950 pcm in June 2015, 
compared with an LHA level of £1150 

 

                                                                 

Page 84

http://www.londonspovertyprofile.org.uk/2015_LPP_Document_01.7-web%255b2%255d.pdf


  

17 

However, Professor Christine Whitehead of the London School of 
Economics associates this apparent reluctance to commit to a longer 
tenancy with a lack of familiarity with the principle of renting longer-
term, as well as noting that tenants need to try out their landlord before 
a level of trust develops.  It may also be that tenants were unaware of the 
availability of tenant-only break clauses (meaning that a longer tenancy 
still offers them the flexibility to move if they needed to).  This is 
supported by the experience of another major player in the build to let 
sector, Get Living London, also operating on the Olympic Park.  They 
describe actively educating tenants on the benefits of longer tenancies, 
noting that some 60 per cent of their new tenants now take up two- or 
three-year tenancies.  Those choosing not to do so tend to be restricted 
by visa or referencing criteria.  Some who initially took a one-year tenancy 
have now renewed for another three. The experience of other developers 
and investors also suggests that once tenants are in a property, they tend 
to want to stay. The average length of occupation across investor M&G’s 
London portfolio is 2.5 years, suggesting people usually renew.  
Moreover, some of their buildings are only that old, so this average is 
likely to increase.  Anna Clarke from the Cambridge Centre for Housing 
and Planning Research notes that it is those who have no choice but to 
live long-term in the PRS who really need the security of tenure offered 
by a longer tenancy.  These are not the renters who value the flexibility 
offered by a twelve-month AST, nor those who are happy to move 
around, trying out new places to live.  They are likely, therefore, not to be 
the young professional target market for developments such as Stratford 
Halo, with its communal sky gardens, 24-hour concierge and onsite gym, 
which may in part explain the experience there.  Increasingly, these are 
likely to be families and older renters priced out of the home ownership 
market and not eligible for social housing. 

Shelter research suggests that just 13 per cent of London’s private renters 
live in the PRS through choice, and for 77 per cent of London private 
tenants, one of the main things they’re looking for is to be able to stay 
long-term (at least three years).  Perhaps unsurprisingly, the desire for 
more security is greater for households with children.30  By contrast, the 
English Housing Survey tells us that 80 per cent of private renters have 
actually been in their home for less than five years.31  In fact, Shelter 
research indicates that over one third (37 per cent) of London’s private 

30 86 per cent of households with children say that this is important to them, including 
more than half (58 per cent) who say it is very important.  Source: YouGov/Shelter 
Private Tenant Survey 2015.  YouGov interviewed 4,900 private renters in Great Britain, 
including 739 in London, online during July 2015.  Results are weighted to form a 
representative sample of the private renting population in Great Britain 

31 English Housing Survey 2013-14 Household Report, Office for National Statistics 

 

                                                                 

Page 85

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/english-housing-survey-2013-to-2014-household-report


  

18 

tenants have moved three or more times in the last five years.  And when 
families are evicted or otherwise required to move, when they would 
have preferred to stay on, parents are two or three times more likely to 
express concern over the impact of the move on their child’s wellbeing or 
education, than those who moved through choice.32  The Mayor himself 
acknowledges that “six or twelve month tenancies may not be 
appropriate for families with children, or indeed vulnerable households 
such as those who were recently homeless, and it appears that there is 
widespread latent demand for longer tenancies in the PRS.”33  This 
broader picture chimes with the result of GLA telephone research which 
found that half of Londoners (47 per cent) thought a typical tenancy 
should be offered for longer than twelve months.34 

The English Housing Survey also found that nationally, one third (35 per 
cent) of private renters had been in their home for less than a year and 80 
per cent had been in their current home for less than five years.  This 
contrasts sharply with owner occupiers, a large majority of whom (80 per 
cent) had been in their home for at least five years while only five per 
cent had been in their home for less than a year.35  It is perhaps to be 
expected in the current housing market that private renters would be 
more likely to have moved than owner occupiers, but it is significant for 
the purposes of this report, at least because of the growing number of 
families with dependent children who are living in the PRS.   

Housing charities regularly report on the insecurity experienced by many 
private renters: a sense of home is important, offering a place of 
belonging and safety.  Yet YouGov research for Shelter undertaken in 
201136 found that nearly half (44 per cent) of privately renting families 
with children do not think of their PRS house as ‘home’.  Regular moves 
are likely to be detrimental to children’s education and wellbeing, as well 
as involving substantial costs and disruption to the wider family.  RSA 
research shows that the chances of a child gaining the Government’s 
target of five good GCSEs drop significantly with each school move.  This 
results not only from the direct disruption of the move, but also because 
of delays in gaining a new school place and the fact that in-year movers 

32 Responses on the impact of the move are for Great Britain and England, rather than 
London, for reasons of sample size.  Source: YouGov/Shelter Private Tenant Survey 
2015 

33 Mayor’s Housing Covenant: Making the private rented sector work for Londoners, 
GLA, Dec 2012, p17 

34 Source: ICM poll of a representative sample of 1003 Londoners, conducted for the GLA 
during July and August 2015 

35 English Housing Survey 2013-14 Headline Report, Office for National Statistics 
36 ‘A Better Deal – towards more stable private renting’, Shelter, Sept 2012 

 

                                                                 

Page 86

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/469213/English_Housing_Survey_Headline_Report_2013-14.pdf
http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/587178/A_better_deal_report.pdf


  

19 

are more likely to come from already less-advantaged backgrounds.37  So 
a lack of housing security may be reinforcing disadvantages already faced 
by children in these households. 

Are renters getting a fair deal? 
Because demand for rented properties so greatly outstrips supply and the 
enforcement of existing regulation is weak, tenants are often reliant on 
the goodwill of landlords to ensure their home is reasonably maintained 
and their rent is set at a fair level.  A minority of landlords takes 
advantage of this, and the Committee heard examples of both 
unreasonable rents and extremely poor housing conditions. 

Rental price data is complicated by the range of indices which describe 
movements in the market and the differing samples they rely on, 
especially whether they are based on new or existing tenancies.38  The 
data on market supply is also patchy, as there is no robust landlord 
population data and no mechanism for recording new landlords. 

This lack of transparency can combine with low market power to prevent 
tenants from getting a fair deal.  It also deters investors and developers 
because a clear empirical basis for decision making is unavailable.  This 
means that the rental market can be confusing for all parties and can lead 
to unhelpful binary arguments about rental inflation and affordability, the 
nature of the market, and what can reasonably be done about it.  

37 RSA analysis of the National Pupil Database from 2011-12 shows that while 62 per 
cent of children who did not move schools got five GCSEs with marks between A* and 
C, only 44% of those who moved once in the previous four years did so.  Among those 
who moved three times, the proportion dropped to just 27 per cent.  Source: Between 
the Cracks, RSA, Jul 2013 

38 The Committee heard that some landlords usually increase the rent only when a new 
tenant moves in.  Therefore, changes to the prices of new lets would tend to overstate 
any increase in the market as a whole. 

 

                                                                 

Page 87

https://www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/between-the-cracks/
https://www.thersa.org/discover/publications-and-articles/reports/between-the-cracks/


  

20 

RentSquare 
RentSquare is an innovative web-based platform using open data to 
derive an appropriate rent for specific addresses.  It endeavours to 
bring transparency and efficiency into the fragmented rentals market, 
by matching landlords and tenants over rental prices which are 
generated via an algorithm, based on the public data it accesses and 
user-generated data it collects. Tenants and landlords can then connect 
directly and exchange contracts through an online service for a flat fee. 
According to RentSquare, the benefits are that tenants get a rental 
price determined on the basis of independent data, while landlords 
benefit from a reduction in voids (empty properties), as they can verify 
the best price for their property in real time. 
 

There have been major recent interventions in the ownership and social 
rented markets39 but nothing of substance in the PRS.  The Joseph 
Rowntree Foundation and the Institute for Fiscal Studies say that real 
rents paid remain higher than they have been for most of the last few 
decades, and, overall, rents have been stable compared with the large fall 
in mortgage interest payments over the same period, so the proportion of 
renters’ income spent on housing costs has risen, while it has fallen for 
mortgage payers.40  Meanwhile, renters are squeezing into smaller and 
smaller accommodation.41  This means that the living standards of 
renters, many of whom are trapped in the PRS by high house prices, have 
been under considerable pressure, contributing to the sense of unfairness 
voiced by organisations such as Generation Rent, and felt by many 
renters.  Given the rapidly increasing proportion and range of Londoners 
who now rely on the PRS, it may be time to consider what can be done to 
make the playing field more level. 

Using stabilisation measures to deliver predictability and security  
A wide range of rent stabilisation measures exist, including both direct 
controls on prices and price increases, and longer tenancies, which tend, 
indirectly, to contain price increases.  The most common types of control 
currently in other cities, such as Berlin, are restrictions on mid-tenancy 
rent increases (not between tenancies when a property is re-let) and 

39 Such as the introduction of Help to Buy and Starter Homes and a planned reduction in 
rent levels payable by social tenants 

40 Housing: Trends in Prices, Costs and Tenure, Institute for Fiscal Studies, Feb 2015 and 
Living Standards, Poverty and Inequality in the UK: 2014, Institute for Fiscal Studies, Jul 
2014 

41 While living space per person increased for London’s owner-occupiers by eight per 
cent between 1996 and 2012, for London’s private renters it fell by 25 per cent over the 
same period.  Source: Housing: Trends in Prices, Costs and Tenure, Institute for Fiscal 
Studies, Feb 2015 

 

                                                                 

Page 88

http://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/bns/BN161.pdf
http://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/r96.pdf
http://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/comms/r96.pdf
http://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/bns/BN161.pdf
http://www.ifs.org.uk/uploads/publications/bns/BN161.pdf


  

21 

longer-term or indefinite security of tenure.  Such measures are 
particularly common elsewhere in Europe and in other western 
economies.  See Appendix 3 for a summary of the range of policies 
applied in different countries. 
 

Rent stabilisation in Berlin 
In Berlin, 90 per cent of households rent, and the standard lease length 
is indefinite.  The landlord sets initial rents but they can’t exceed 20 per 
cent of the local average for similar properties.  Rent rises within a 
tenancy are mainly controlled, and rents tend to be raised in line with 
the local average.  The Government is trialling a new rent cap in 
particularly overheated areas of Berlin to reduce the discrepancy 
between existing and new contracts.  From June 2015, landlords in 
those areas are barred from increasing rent on new tenancies by more 
than 10 per cent above the local district average. 
 
Under this system tenants have a high level of protection against 
evictions and see their rental property as a long-term home.  However, 
the system creates a disincentive to surrendering a tenancy, creating 
stagnant conditions, with some tenants living in homes that no longer 
suit their needs.  
 

When considering the merits of different stabilisation systems, it is 
important to note that housing markets do not operate in a vacuum.  
Rather they are symbiotic systems, with each element evolving to 
complement the others.  The Berlin system, for example, could not just 
be ‘cut and pasted’ successfully into the London market with the 
expectation that it would function effectively.  Germans have a different 
attitude to renting and do not view it as a stepping stone to home 
ownership, for example.  Diverse, corporate investment in the sector and 
a lack of tolerance for debt are also features of the German market which 
do not apply here. 
 
Indexation – pegging rental price increases within tenancies to the 
consumer price index (CPI) or wage inflation – would contain price rises 
over the short-term, making rental prices and incomes more predictable.  
According to GLA research, seven in ten Londoners support inflation-
linked limits to rent rises.42  Combining this policy with allowing prices 

42 71 per cent of a representative sample of 1003 Londoners, in an ICM telephone poll 
conducted during July and August 2015 for the GLA, supported linking rent increases to 
inflation or a locally-defined limit 

 

                                                                 

Page 89



  

22 

then to revert to market levels between tenancies would represent only a 
relatively limited intervention in the market.  However, to have any 
impact, indexation would need to be combined with longer tenancies – 
indexing over six to twelve months is meaningless.  Conversely, longer 
tenancies without controlling price increases achieves little: rogue 
landlords could just hike the rent to an unaffordable level to get rid of a 
tenant.   

Our evidence base indicates that light-touch stabilisation measures, such 
as indexation of rents and longer tenancies, would not, of themselves, 
lead to falling rent levels.  Indeed there could even be disadvantages to 
such policies for tenants:   

• We heard that some landlords appreciate good tenants and 
already avoid raising rents in order to retain them.  Landlords 
might have various motivations for doing so: it makes better 
sense, for example, to have a reliable tenant on a stable lower 
rent than experience voids between tenancies.   

• Under an indexation system, at the end of a tenancy, tenants 
might face bigger price increases than would otherwise have 
applied, as the rent catches up with the market.  Faced with such 
a regime, some landlords might just start their rentals from a 
higher rate to manage the risk of cost increases during the 
tenancy.   

However, there is also evidence that indexation would help to calm rent 
rises and make rental prices more predictable. And longer tenancies 
would offer more stability and security, preventing a bad situation for 
some getting worse.  Anne Baxendale of Shelter told us that predictability 
was just as important as affordability for many renter families. 

Driving up standards 
Standards in the sector need to improve, with the worst landlords driven 
out, if it is to offer a safe, high quality, long-term housing option, 
particularly to accommodate families. The Mayor’s London Rental 
Standard acknowledges this, but rogue landlords will always remain 
untroubled by such voluntary arrangements.  The Housing Act 2004 and 
additional regulations laid down in 2015 allowed local authorities to 
introduce the licensing of all privately rented properties within a 
designated ‘selective licensing’ area.  Such schemes can offer a way to 
improve the private rented sector and so far, seven London boroughs 
have implemented them, with others considering or consulting on their 

 Page 90



  

23 

introduction.  Newham has operated such a scheme since January 2013, 
and reports significant progress in dealing with the problem of rogue 
landlords, prosecuting more than 500, issuing over 300 cautions and 
banning 26 from operating since the scheme was launched.  The effect of 
the new regulations introduced in 2015 remains to be seen, but is likely 
to be mixed.  On the one hand, the widening of the criteria under which 
local authorities may apply to implement a scheme43 could be beneficial 
in London.  However, a return to a requirement for larger selective 
licensing schemes to be approved by the Secretary of State44 reintroduces 
an added level of bureaucracy which may be a hindrance. 

The PRS is different across London, and there may be equally effective 
alternatives to selective licensing for different boroughs.  The London 
Borough of Hounslow and the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea, 
for example, are among those who consider that landlords might be 
subject to compulsory registration (along the lines suggested in the Rugg 
Review45 and by the Police Foundation46) and that this need only be a 
simple and cheap process to allow local authorities to enforce standards 
more easily.47  This approach lies somewhere between voluntary 
registration48 and compulsory licensing: in order to operate in the private 
rented market, landlords would need to apply for a ‘landlord number’ – it 
would be both an offence and a great practical difficulty to operate 
without one.  It could be required to create or terminate a tenancy and to 
access a local authority scheme.  Landlords who committed offences 
would gain ‘points’ and eventually be disqualified from operating.  The 
scheme would be low cost for the landlord with few hurdles to jump but 
would make it very difficult for rogue landlords to operate. 

43 Aside from the existing criteria, relating to areas of low housing demand or 
experiencing significant anti-social behaviour, applications can now be made in respect 
of areas containing a high proportion of privately rented properties where one of a 
further four criteria applies, relating to poor housing conditions or high levels of inward 
migration, deprivation or crime 

44 This requirement had been removed in April 2010 
45 The Private Rented Sector: Its contribution and potential, Julie Rugg and David 
Rhodes, Centre for Housing Policy, University of York, 2008 

46 Safe as Houses?  Crime and changing tenure patterns, Police Foundation, Aug 2015 
47 See for example written evidence submitted to the Communities and Local 
Government Select Committee Inquiry into the Private Rented Sector, 2013-14 by the 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 

48 Compulsory registration exists in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland 

 

                                                                 

Page 91

https://www.york.ac.uk/media/chp/documents/2008/prsreviewweb.pdf
https://www.york.ac.uk/media/chp/documents/2008/prsreviewweb.pdf
http://www.police-foundation.org.uk/uploads/holding/projects/housing_and_crime_final.pdf
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmcomloc/50/50iii128.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmcomloc/50/50iii128.htm
http://www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm201314/cmselect/cmcomloc/50/50iii128.htm


  

24 

Part 3:  How Would the Market 
React to Stabilisation Measures? 

Our research 
There is a wealth of anecdote and rumour about the impact of rent 
controls but a dearth of rigorous research.  To address this gap, the 
Committee commissioned three-part research into the likely impact in 
London of stabilisation measures.  However, as with previous attempts to 
model the impact, we were limited by a lack of comprehensive and 
current data on the landlord population and rental market.  The 
Cambridge Centre for Housing and Planning Research (CCHPR – who 
conducted the research) notes that the conclusions of this new research 
are therefore tentative.  That said, our data is London-specific and 
current. 

• Our modelling was based around six different rent stabilisation 
scenarios.   

• The quantitative survey of London landlords achieved a sample 
size of 174, representing some 12,000 properties, and explored 
landlords’ views with respect to these scenarios and issues arising. 

• The qualitative research comprised ten telephone interviews with 
investors and landlords in the build to let sector. 

Details of the scenarios modelled and researched are included at 
Appendix 4.49  The scenarios range from relatively light-touch measures, 
reverting regularly to the market but offering longer tenancies and 
indexation of rents (for example, Scenario 1 is a five-year tenancy with 
initial rents set by the market and increases limited to CPI) to an actual 
rental price cut (Scenario 5 is an indefinite cap on all private rents, set at 
two thirds of current market rates and indexed to average earnings or 
CPI). 

The impact on the size of the PRS 
CCHPR’s modelling shows that, based on a simple projection of recent 
trends (and assuming no further intervention in the market), we can 

49 The full report on the commissioned work is published alongside this report at: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_rent_stabilisation_for_london
_assembly.pdf and on the CCHPR website 
 

 

                                                                 

Page 92

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_rent_stabilisation_for_london_assembly.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/report_on_rent_stabilisation_for_london_assembly.pdf
http://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/Projects/Start-Year/2015/Research-effect-rent-stabilisation-measures-London


  

25 

expect around 50 per cent growth in the size of London’s PRS over the ten 
years to 2025.50  Our modelling compares projected growth of the sector, 
under each of six scenarios, against this base growth rate. 

Light-touch stabilisation measures 
The modelling indicates that most of the scenarios considered have a very 
limited impact on future PRS stock size.  Significantly longer tenancies 
(either five-year or indefinite) imply only a relatively small loss of rental 
income for landlords, and the modelling therefore projects a 
correspondingly small reduction in supply.  These measures would only 
reduce the near 50 per cent projected future growth in the PRS (in the no 
change scenario), by around three to four per cent over the next ten 
years (see Figure 1 below).  Under this model, London’s private rented 
sector would therefore still be expected to increase by more than 
400,000 units over the decade.  As highlighted in the Committee’s 2013 
report on the PRS,51 many of these privately rented homes will be created 
by transferring units out of home ownership or the social sector and into 
the PRS. 

Figure 1: Light touch stabilisation has little impact on modelled PRS 
growth over ten years 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

50 It should be noted that much of this growth will come from investors buying and 
letting out existing stock, rather than building new supply 

51 Rent Reform: Making London’s Private Rented Sector Fit for Purpose, London 
Assembly, Jun 2013 

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400
1600

No new rent
regulation

Light touch
stabilisation (Sc 1)

Rent cap (Sc 5
upper projection)

Rent cap (Sc 5
lower projection)

Modelled size of PRS (thousands of units) in 2025 under 
different scenarios 

Current size of PRS 

Source: Research on the Effect of Rent Stabilisation Measures in London, CCHPR, September 2015 

 

                                                                 

Page 93

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/rent-reform-making-londons-private-rented
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications/rent-reform-making-londons-private-rented


  

26 

The quantitative survey also asked landlords about their reactions to the 
indexation of rent increases within tenancies, and longer tenancies, 
respectively.  Despite the modelling showing a very limited impact on 
future stock size, the landlords that we sampled were initially quite 
sceptical: 

• If rents were indexed annually to earnings or CPI, most landlords (58 
per cent) said they would continue as they were, but some 40 per 
cent said they would seek to reduce their PRS investment either 
gradually or straight away. 

Figure 2: Landlords say stabilisation would affect their behaviour 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Nonetheless, they were open to persuasion regarding the principle of 
longer tenancies: 

• Although most were instinctively not interested in offering a longer 
tenancy, almost four in ten expressed an interest in offering a three-
year tenancy if they were able to evict the tenant should they need to 
sell or live in the property themselves (particularly important for 
accidental landlords), and half were interested if tax incentives were 
offered (a quarter were even interested in offering indefinite 
tenancies in this case). 

 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%
70%
80%
90%

100%

Light touch
stabilisation

Rent cap

Landlord responses to stabilisation scenarios 

I'd live with a loss on my
lettings

I'd reduce my portfolio
size over time or
immediately

I'd continue just as I am
now

Source: Research on the Effect of Rent Stabilisation Measures in London, CCHPR, September 2015 

 Page 94



  

27 

Figure 3: Landlords are interested in offering longer tenancies under the 
right conditions 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Build to let landlords and investors we interviewed by telephone also 
reacted more positively to longer tenancies, but only four of the ten said 
they were currently prepared to offer them. 

By contrast with the impact of light-touch measures discussed above, 
most evidence suggests that so called ‘hard’ rent controls should not be 
considered except in emergency circumstances.  As shown in Figure 1 
above, our most extreme model, involving an immediate cut in rents to 
two thirds of their current levels, followed by indexing to average 
earnings or the CPI, indicates that the expected growth in PRS stock size 
could be substantially reduced, potentially leading to an absolute drop in 
numbers of PRS homes. 

Drawing together the investigation findings 
As regards our commissioned research, CCHPR points out that the 
relationship between what people say they would do and what they 
actually do in a specific situation is uncertain, and particularly so for a 
politicised issue such as rent stabilisation, which tends to provoke deep-
seated emotions.  The survey responses indicated that many landlords 
were vehemently opposed on ideological grounds.  Institutional investors, 
likewise, were suspicious of measures which might move back towards 
‘old-fashioned’ rent controls.  This may in part reflect the polarised nature 

0%
10%
20%
30%
40%
50%
60%

3 
ye

ar

5 
ye

ar

In
de

fin
ite

3 
ye

ar

5 
ye

ar

In
de

fin
ite

3 
ye

ar

5 
ye

ar

In
de

fin
ite

3 
ye

ar

5 
ye

ar

In
de

fin
ite

Interested If could evict to sell If could evict to sell
or live in

If tax incentives

Landlord interest in offering tenancies of different 
lengths 

Source: Research on the Effect of Rent Stabilisation Measures in London, CCHPR, September 2015 

 Page 95



  

28 

of the current debate around this topic, but clearly also indicates a real 
level of anxiety over investment prospects. 

Nonetheless, evidence from our October meeting demonstrates that 
some investors and landlords are effectively operating rent stabilisation 
on a voluntary basis.  Get Living London on the Olympic Park offers up to 
three-year tenancies as standard and indexes rents within tenancies to 
CPI, providing tenant-only break clauses after six months.  Their offer 
therefore is very similar to the first scenario we modelled.  Professor 
Christine Whitehead also points out that many amateur landlords don't 
increase rents within tenancies and want tenants to stay: the way they 
operate “looks exactly like the rent stabilisation system.”52 

All this suggests that, in general, a longer-term evolution in renting and 
letting culture is already underway, but it can only be properly 
established over time.  Elsewhere in Europe, where much longer 
tenancies and a range of price controls are the norm, the market 
environment has evolved in tandem with a much different renting and 
letting culture.  As we heard from the Association of Residential Letting 
Agents and others, in Germany, for example, most people have to make a 
large investment in the property through fitting bathrooms and kitchens 
themselves.  Many Germans consider their rented property to be their 
permanent home.  Others point out that the lettings industry there is 
primarily professional, house prices far lower and mortgages much less 
common.  None of this, however, negates the value of highlighting the 
simple fact that many London landlords voluntarily and successfully apply 
elements of light-touch stabilisation themselves.  This recognition, in 
conjunction with underscoring how demand for London’s PRS homes is 
changing, is a start in developing a modern, professional rental and 
lettings culture which fits the new reality of private renting in London. 

52 Professor Christine Whitehead, Evidence to the London Assembly Housing Committee, 
1 Sept 2015, p35 

 

                                                                 

Page 96

http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13032/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Tuesday%2001-Sep-2015%2010.00%20Housing%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b13032/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20Item%206%20Tuesday%2001-Sep-2015%2010.00%20Housing%20Committee.pdf?T=9


  

29 

Part 4:  So What Should We Do? 

This report seeks to offer the new Mayor constructive guidelines on how 
to approach the challenges and opportunities provided by London’s PRS.  
It recognises that, in the context of a housing supply crisis, there is no 
silver bullet which can deliver change overnight to resolve the tensions 
which exist.  London needs both a change of culture, and a more mature 
debate around the nature of the private rented market and appropriate 
solutions to the challenges it offers.  An incoming Mayor, seeking to 
expand and support the PRS, while offering tenants a fair deal, should 
take steps to promote this debate, encourage the professionalisation and 
modernisation of the sector, support build to let investment, and invite 
landlords and tenants’ groups across the market to recognise the need to 
rethink how it operates, contributing constructively to the development 
of a renting culture more suitable for 21st century London. 

This report also seeks to highlight that in not intervening in London’s 
overheated PRS market, we are effectively choosing to sideline the 
legitimate needs of a growing number of families and vulnerable 
Londoners for whom it is not a good fit.  Their need is for greater stability 
and security than our PRS currently offers.  The Mayor’s London Rental 
Standard is a start in professionalising what is currently a primarily 
amateur sector, but it doesn’t go far enough, and has received limited 
uptake – pre-existing accreditation schemes account for most of its 
members.  Indeed, the failure of voluntary regulation through the London 
Rental Standard, despite a £250,000 marketing budget being made 
available by the Greater London Authority, highlights the need for better 
statutory regulation.  Our evidence indicates that, given the explosion of 
growth in the PRS and its changing tenant profile, there are strong 
arguments in favour of intervening, at least in support of the groups such 
as families who are most at risk in the prevailing market conditions.  
London’s children are a vital part of its future and one quarter of them 
are in the PRS.  Traditional short-term tenancies may well work for mobile 
young adults, but is it really the right offer to make to families with 
school-age children?  

Moreover, light-touch stabilisation measures, such as longer tenancies 
and indexation within tenancies, do not appear likely to have significant 
detrimental effects on supply.  In fact not only do several institutional 
landlords already actively promote a very similar offer to their tenants, 
but, contrary to accepted belief, many smaller professional and amateur 
landlords, appear in practice to be happy to offer similar conditions to 

 Page 97



  

30 

some of their tenants on a voluntary basis.  Landlords who offer such 
conditions point out that they benefit themselves from fewer void 
periods (when the property is not let) and from tenants who take an 
active interest in the proper upkeep and maintenance of the property, 
because it is their settled home. 

Notwithstanding this, landlords and investors alike are nervous about the 
imposition of any regulations.  It is argued that sudden changes which 
have the effect of decoupling rents from the market could trigger 
substantial disinvestment and precipitate a collapse in the market, which 
would not be beneficial to most private renters.  It is important, 
therefore, to remain respectful of the market mechanism in introducing 
any new measures.  Indexation within tenancies, but reverting to the 
market between them, offers a way to create a window of rental price 
predictability over the duration of a tenancy, without departing 
permanently from the market price signals indicative of demand and 
supply fundamentals.  

In support of the necessary change of culture, a majority of the 
Committee considers that an incoming Mayor should: 

Recommendation 1 
Lobby government for a delegated power to introduce appropriate rent 
stabilisation measures in London.  The Mayor should then pilot a 
London-wide stabilisation regime, based on a default three-year 
tenancy, set initially at market rent but with annual rent reviews limited 
to the increase in the consumer price index.  At the end of the three 
years, the rental price would revert to the market level.  If the pilot is 
successful, the Mayor should then consider whether the default 
tenancy period could be five years. 

 

  

 Page 98



  

31 

A majority of the Committee further considers that an incoming Mayor 
should: 

Recommendation 2 
Set up a London-wide register of landlords.  Such a register would help 
the boroughs enforce existing legislation but would also inform market 
analyses by all those involved with London’s PRS, including developers 
and investors, the boroughs and tenants.  The Committee 
wholeheartedly supports Dame Angela Watkinson MP’s Private 
Members’ Bill (Local Government Finance (Tenure Information) Bill 
2015) currently in Parliament (as do many London MPs, including the 
Mayor), seeking to secure a mechanism for gathering landlord contact 
details.  However, we fear that the Bill may not progress beyond its 
current stage in Parliament, in which case separate action needs to be 
taken. 

 

Recommendation 3 
Review and report on the potential to scale new ways of injecting 
transparency into the private rental market, connecting tenants and 
landlords. 

 

 

In support of the new build to let sector, a majority of the Committee 
considers that an incoming Mayor should: 

Recommendation 4 
Champion new institutional landlords and investors within the sector 
which already offer longer tenancies and predictable rent rises, 
especially any which rent to families. 

 

Recommendation 5 
Longer term, the new Mayor should lobby government to develop a 
dedicated planning use class for build to let which would enable new 
professional landlords to compete for development land on a level 
playing field, rather than competing with developers for market sale. 

 

 Page 99



  

32 

 

In support of London’s low-income renters, a majority of the Committee 
considers that an incoming Mayor should: 

Recommendation 6 
Lobby the Government to review the freeze imposed on Local Housing 
Allowance levels in London, to alleviate the acute affordability 
problems faced by private renters in receipt of housing benefit. 

 

  

 Page 100



  

33 

Appendix 1  Minority Report of the 
GLA Conservatives 

The GLA Conservative Members are unable to support this report.  We 
strongly feel that these proposals, which would increase regulation in the 
private rented sector, would have an unacceptable impact on investment 
and supply of private rented homes.  The evidence received by the 
Committee during this investigation, including the comments from invited 
guests at our meetings, indicates that these proposed measures would 
offer no meaningful benefits on rents, security of tenure or property 
standards, but would restrict the supply of new homes and the choices 
available to tenants.  In our view the best way to tackle all of these issues 
is to do everything possible to promote new supply, not to put obstacles 
in its way.  

 

 

 Page 101



  

34 

Appendix 2  Conduct of the 
Investigation 

The investigation comprised: 
 

• a public call for written evidence 
• two formal meetings 
• independent commissioned research among landlords 
• modelling, projecting the impacts of different stabilisation 

measures on the London rental market 
• desk research 
• informal discussions. 

 
The shape of the investigation is illustrated in Figure 4 below. 
 
Modelling and commissioned research 
The econometric modelling, undertaken for the Committee by the 
Cambridge Centre for Housing and Planning Research, projected the 
impact of a range of rent stabilisation scenarios on London’s private 
rented housing supply. 
 
Two additional small pieces of research further probed the effects of 
these scenarios: 
 

• The first was a piece of quantitative research among London 
landlords.  Because there is no population data, the sample for 
this could only be self-selecting and was achieved through the 
distribution of questionnaires via landlord associations and 
accreditation schemes and letting agents.  The sample is therefore 
not necessarily representative of London landlords as a whole 
(though there is a range of landlord size and type) and so the 
outcomes should be taken as indicative rather than numerically 
representative.  Our research, undertaken in July and August 
2015, built on the London data from work undertaken on behalf of 
Shelter earlier in the year.  The total number of responses 
achieved was 174, representing landlords letting all types of 
property. 
 

• The second involved qualitative research, comprising ten 
telephone interviews among build to let landlords and investors 
undertaken in August 2015.  

 Page 102



  

35 

Figure 4  Investigation Structure 
 

 

  

 Page 103



  

36 

Appendix 3  International Rent and 
Tenure Regulations 

The table below summarises the main features of rent and tenure 
regulations in place in a range of European countries, including England, 
and two American cities.  It demonstrates that England is something of an 
outlier in terms of three areas: controls on increases within tenancies, 
tenancy lengths and eviction prevention. 
 
Location Rents Lease 

form 
Restriction 
on 
evictions 

Restriction 
on sale/ 
disposal to 
another 
tenure? 

Rent 
controls 
on first 
letting of 
property? 

Rent 
controls 
for new 
lets? 

Exceptions Increases 
controlled 
within 
tenancy? 

Denmark   Post-1991 
construction  Indefinite Strong 

 (for 
multi-unit 
buildings) 

England   Existing pre-
1971 tenancies  AST 

None at 
end of 
term 

 

France   

Law may 
introduce rent 
caps in some 

areas 

 1-3 years 
Strong 
within 

tenancy 
 

Germany   

But must not 
charge 

significantly 
above market 
(20%+ in some 

localities) 

 Indefinite Strong  

Ireland     4 years 

None in 
first 

6months, 
then 

strong 

 

Netherlands   

Units renting 
for over 

€700/month 
(25% of sector) 

 Indefinite Strong  

USA (New 
York City)   

Post-1974 
buildings & 

smaller 
properties; 

‘luxury’ 
dwellings (rent 
>€2500/month) 

 

1 or 2 
years 
with 

right to 
renew 

Strong  

USA (San 
Francisco)   

Post-1979 
buildings, 

single-family 
homes & 
condos 

 

1 or 2 
years 
with 

right to 
renew 

  

 
Source:  Rent stabilisation: Principles and international experience, Kath Scanlon & 
Christine Whitehead, LSE London, Sept 2014, p29 

 Page 104

http://www.lse.ac.uk/geographyAndEnvironment/research/london/pdf/Rent-Stabilisation-report-2014.pdf
http://www.lse.ac.uk/geographyAndEnvironment/research/london/pdf/Rent-Stabilisation-report-2014.pdf


  

37 

Appendix 4  The Rent Stabilisation 
Scenarios Modelled 

The six rent stabilisation scenarios modelled were: 
 

1 A new default private rental contract of five years with initial rents 
set by the market and increases limited to CPI. Shelter’s proposal 
for the Stable Rental Contract as included in A Better Deal53 was 
used as the model for this scenario. 
 

2 A new default indefinite private rental contract with initial rents 
set by the market and increases limited to CPI or wage growth 
(whichever is lower) within the tenancy. Civitas’s proposal54 was 
used as the model for this scenario. 

 
3 A temporary, three year freeze on all private rents (including 

between tenancies) except for new build properties. 
 

4 An indefinite cap on all private rents, set at current market rates 
and indexed to average earnings or the CPI. 

 
5 An indefinite cap on all private rents, set at two-thirds of current 

market rates and indexed to average earnings or the CPI. 
 

6 Limits on rent increases within a tenancy that would take them to 
above market levels coupled with automatic 29 month extensions 
to a six month probationary tenancy which could be ended by the 
landlord only if they needed to sell their property, live in it or if 
there had been a breach of tenancy. 

  
 
 
Further information on the methods, findings and conclusions of this 
work is detailed in the published report by the Cambridge Centre for 
Housing and Planning Research: Research on the Effect of Rent 
Stabilisation Measures in London, CCHPR, Oct 2015. 
  

53 Shelter report: A Better Deal, Robbie de Santos, Sept 2012 
54 Civitas: The Future of Private Renting, Daniel Bentley, Jan 2015 

 

                                                                 

Page 105

http://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/Projects/Start-Year/2015/Research-effect-rent-stabilisation-measures-London/Report
http://www.cchpr.landecon.cam.ac.uk/Projects/Start-Year/2015/Research-effect-rent-stabilisation-measures-London/Report
http://england.shelter.org.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/587178/A_better_deal_report.pdf
http://www.civitas.org.uk/publications/the-future-of-private-renting-2/


  

38 

Orders and translations 

How to order 
For further information on this report or to order a copy, please contact 
Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager, on 020 7983 4000 or email: 
scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

See it for free on our website 
You can also view a copy of the report on the GLA website: 
http://www.london.gov.uk/assembly/reports 

Large print, braille or translations 
If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of this report in large print or 
braille, or a copy of the summary and main findings in another language, 
then please call us on: 020 7983 4100 or email: 
assembly.translations@london.gov.uk. 

Chinese 

 

Hindi 

 
Vietnamese 

 

Bengali 

 
Greek 

 

Urdu 

 
Turkish 

 

Arabic 

 
Punjabi 

 

Gujarati 

 

 Page 106

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


  

 

Greater London Authority 

City Hall 
The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 
ISBN 978 1 84781 163 9 

www.london.gov.uk 

This publication is printed on recycled paper 

 

 Page 107



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2

Page 109



Page 110



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Questions to the Deputy Mayor for 
Housing 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 June 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report sets out the background information for a meeting with the newly appointed 

Deputy Mayor for Housing. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the report as background to putting questions to the 

Deputy Mayor for Housing about housing issues in London, and notes the subsequent 

discussion. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 On 24 May 2016, the Mayor appointed James Murray as his Deputy Mayor for Housing.  The 

Committee Chair and Deputy Chair have accordingly invited him to attend this first meeting of the 

new Housing Committee, and propose to use the session to discuss the main planks of the new 

administration’s housing policy. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 

 

  Housing supply 

4.1 It is widely accepted that London faces a housing supply crisis, with need greatly outstripping 

supply.  The new Mayor has indicated that his biggest single priority will be building more homes 

each year.1  In order to deliver these homes, he has said he will set up a dedicated Homes for 

Londoners housing team to bring together all the relevant stakeholders. 

 

 

 

                                                 
1 Sadiq Khan for London A Manifesto for All Londoners, 9 Mar 16, available online here: 
http://www.sadiq.london/a_manifesto_for_all_londoners  

Page 111

Agenda Item 10

http://d3n8a8pro7vhmx.cloudfront.net/themes/569cb9526a21db3279000001/attachments/original/1457451016/x160668_Sadiq_Khan_Manifesto.pdf?1457451016
http://www.sadiq.london/a_manifesto_for_all_londoners


        

The Private Rented Sector 

4.2 The Mayor has expressed his determination to improve Londoners’ experience of private renting by 

strengthening renters’ rights with regard to tenancy lengths, rent rises and the quality of 

accommodation.  He also wants to attract institutional investment to increase supply and deliver 

secure rented homes. 

 
Affordable homes 

4.3 The new Mayor has set a target of 50 per cent affordable homes for any new development.  He has 

also indicated that genuinely affordable rents, in his view, would be less than the 80 per cent of 

market rent prescribed by the Government. 

 

4.4 As regards affordable home ownership, he has plans to introduce an affordable part-rent, part-buy 

product on public land, while halving the average rent paid on such homes. 
 
Public land 

4.5 The Mayor has indicated that he will retain the freehold on public land to maximise the delivery of 

affordable homes.  He also wishes to engage with major employers who would provide supporting 

finance in exchange for allocation rights to some of these homes. 
 

Rough sleeping and homelessness 

4.6 The new Mayor wishes to establish a No Nights Sleeping Rough taskforce, and to coordinate the 

boroughs’ efforts to find accommodation for homeless households so that they do not have to 

engage in a bidding war. 

  

4.7 The Committee may therefore wish to discuss with the Deputy Mayor and his staff: 

 how he intends to increase substantially the pace of housebuilding in London; 

 what plans he has to strengthen private tenants’ rights and any impact this might have on 

the build to rent sector; 

 how he will ensure that enough affordable homes are built to meet London’s growing need, 

while also making them genuinely affordable; and 

 how he intends to support the boroughs in securing accommodation for homeless 

households. 

 

 Invited guests 

4.8 A panel of expert guests has been invited to discuss these issues with the Committee, including: 

 James Murray, Deputy Mayor for Housing; 

 Officers from the Greater London Authority (GLA), to be confirmed. 

 
 
5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

 

 

Page 112



        

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4394 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 113

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Site Visit to East Thames Supported 
Housing Schemes 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 June 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 

 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report gives an overview of the Committee’s visit to two supported housing schemes in the 

London borough of Newham managed by East Thames housing association. 

 
 
2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the record of its site visit to supported housing schemes 

managed by the East Thames housing association. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 At its meeting on 24 January 2016, the Committee agreed to use its meeting slot in March 2016 for 

a site visit to view a number of supported housing schemes and discuss their operation with the 

provider and residents.  

  

3.2 The following Members were in attendance: Tom Copley AM and Andrew Boff AM. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration 

 

4.1 The visit took place on 3 March 2016.  It enabled Members to: 

 view the facilities as examples of London’s specialist housing provision; 

 meet residents to hear first-hand how they have benefited from these schemes; and 

 hear from East Thames about how they might be affected by changes in rent levels which 

were expected to be introduced from April 2016. 

 

 

 

Page 115

Agenda Item 11



        

Discussion with East Thames HQ staff 

4.2 Members spent the first part of the visit with staff from East Thames discussing the broad 

development picture.  The environment in which housing associations operate continues to evolve 

and some housing providers have exited, or are planning to exit, the care and support sector because 

of the associated complications and costs.  East Thames is committed to the sector, but considers 

that the currently proposed changes to rent levels and Housing Benefit will offer a significant 

challenge, hitting the rental income stream.  It is able to run some care and support schemes at a 

loss because of cross-subsidy from others, or from other parts of the business.  Until it has clarity 

over the forthcoming changes, however, it is not clear what the future holds.  This, combined with 

high London land prices, is the biggest concern at present. 

 

4.3 It was explained that the development and operation of supported housing is more expensive than 

the general needs equivalent. 
 

4.4 Development is more expensive because of the cost, for example, of extra communal and/or 

personal space, and special adaptations requirements. 
 

4.5 Ongoing operational costs are also higher, which means that existing schemes are also threatened, 

not just those planned for the future.  A comparison done by East Thames showed the repairs costs 

for 2014/15 for two blocks with similar tenant numbers.  The repairs cost for the supported scheme 

was £3,700; for the general needs scheme the figure was £640. 

 Staffing costs can be as much as twice those for general needs housing, with more intensive 

education and training support offered to residents, for example, as well as more equipment 

checks, and more housing management interaction time with residents, particularly for those 

with challenging behaviour. 

 Building management outlays are also higher, with much higher void (three to four times those 

of general needs housing) and repairs and maintenance (more than five times those of general 

needs housing) costs.  Matching availability with the specific needs of potential nominees is 

complex and involves a range of different parties, all of whom are over-stretched.  This means 

the referral process takes longer, which in turn inflates void costs.  There is more specialist 

equipment to maintain and repair in supported housing than its general needs equivalent, along 

with higher repair costs associated with damage due to wheelchair use and anti-social 

behaviour. 

 

4.6 It was explained that these costs are ongoing and need to be planned for.  This is one reason why 

the use of Discretionary Housing Payments to mitigate them (a transitional locally-determined 

arrangement to mitigate the effects of welfare reform changes) is viewed as problematic. 

 

4.7 The impact of the Local Housing Allowance cap would equate to an average weekly rent loss of just 

under £80 per tenant.  It would affect 43 per cent (405) of East Thames’ care and support units, 

mainly schemes for refuges, young people and those with learning disabilities and mental health 

diagnoses.  Sheltered schemes for older people would be the least affected.  

 

Visit to Beverley Lewis House 

4.8 Beverley Lewis House provides accommodation and support to women with learning disabilities to 

help them escape domestic violence or other forms of abuse.  It currently consists of six flats with 

some communal areas.  The scheme is in demand and East Thames is considering whether it could 

increase the number of residents to nine, though it would not choose to go beyond this for fear of 

Page 116



        

losing its familial, rather than institutional, feel.  There is a staff presence onsite 24/7, though no 

dedicated staff accommodation. 

 

4.9 Members met one of the residents, along with the scheme manager, and heard that the aim is to 

assist residents to transition from the scheme to living independently in the community, possibly 

retaining some floating support for a period afterwards.  Bespoke support packages are provided to 

residents to enable this transition to happen. 
 

4.10 One resident explained that she was receiving support in areas such as building healthy relationships, 

engaging with people, managing money and maintaining employment.  She had previously spent 14 

months on an acute psychiatric hospital ward.  Other scheme providers had refused to take her 

because of her level of need, but one year on, she was making good progress, with the prospect of 

moving on again and the potential to take up employment.  It was explained that her other option 

would be to return to a hospital rehabilitation ward, which would be more expensive (the weekly 

rent at Beverly Lewis is roughly equivalent to the cost of one night in a hospital environment) and 

would provide less effective support for transition. 

 

Visit to Newark Knok 

4.11 Newark Knok offers longer-term accommodation for adults referred through the local authority 

mental health team.  It comprises 17 self-contained flats, each with their own lounge, kitchen and 

bathroom, as well as a communal lounge and laundry and a garden.  Four outreach flats are also 

nearby. 

 

4.12 Members heard from residents about their experiences of living at Newark Knok compared with the 

other choices available to them.  Residents described how they valued the confidence-building and 

life-skills support which they received as part of the package of living at the scheme.  For example, 

one resident said she had taken part in trips and gone to exhibitions, activities that she would never 

have considered previously.  They described how important the scheme was to them in regaining 

their independence and privacy, compared with the institutionalisation and sense of being public 

property in a hospital environment.  Having their own front door was very important.  Some 

residents had also undertaken some work experience. 
 

4.13 East Thames staff noted that these schemes were successful in helping clients to manage their lives 

because of the bespoke nature and flexibility of the service they offer.  They are also very 

cost-effective.  East Thames pays the London Living Wage to its staff (though they cannot 

guarantee that their contractors do the same).  This helps them recruit and retain people of an 

appropriate calibre.  Even so, the support cost to run Newark Knok, for example, is around £120 per 

resident per week – less than the cost of an overnight hospital stay. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 117



        

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4394 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 118

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Housing Committee Work Programme 
 

Report to: Housing Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 7 June 2016 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 

 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.   

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the Committee agrees its initial work programme. 

 

2.2 That the Committee agrees to use its meeting on 5 July 2016 for a discussion concerning 

Supported Housing in London, with the scope outlined at paragraph 4.3 of this report. 

 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 Members receive a report at each Committee meeting on the progress of the projects agreed as the 

basis for the work programme.  Additional projects will be included in the work programme from 

time to time reflecting the need for the Committee to respond to tasks such as consultations or 

other events as necessary.  

 

3.2 Criteria for topic selection 

 The criteria for selecting topics are some, or all, of the following:  

(a) Addresses a strategic challenge relating to housing in London, with a particular emphasis on:  

 developing and maintaining sustainable communities; and 

 reducing inequalities and offering opportunities to all Londoners. 

 

(b) Relates to the responsibilities and priorities of the Mayor and Greater London Authority (GLA) 

Group; 

 

(c) Provides an opportunity for the Committee to influence policy; and 

 

(d) Provides an opportunity for the Committee to add value by bringing significant new evidence or 

new perspectives to the debate. 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 12



        

 
4. Issues for Consideration  
 

  Committee Meetings in 2016/17 

4.1 The table below sets out the allocated dates for the Housing Committee in 2016/17.  The business 

for future dates is subject to change as the Committee develops proposals for its work.  Dates may 

be used for formal Committee meetings, informal meetings, site visits or other activities.  The work 

programme also provides for the Committee to respond to any matters that arise during the year. 

 

Meeting Date Topic 

Tuesday 5 July 2016 
Committee Meeting - Supported Housing in London 

– proposed 

Tuesday 6 September 2016 To be agreed 

Thursday 6 October 2016 To be agreed 

Tuesday 1 November 2016 To be agreed 

Tuesday 6 December 2016 To be agreed 

Tuesday 24 January 2017 To be agreed 

Tuesday 28 February 2017 To be agreed 

Wednesday 29 March 2017 To be agreed 

 

 Questions to the Deputy Mayor for Housing 

4.2 It is proposed that today’s meeting be used for a discussion with the newly appointed Deputy Mayor 

for Housing, James Murray, on some key elements of the new Mayor’s housing policy. 

 

 Supported Housing in London 

4.3 It is proposed to use the Committee’s meeting on 5 July 2016 for a discussion with invited guests 

concerning Supported Housing provision in London.  The session is intended as a follow-up to the 

Committee’s site visit in March 2016 to supported accommodation operated by East Thames 

housing association.1 Members will have the opportunity to discuss the following: 

 the supply of, and need for, Supported Housing in London; 

 the implications for the sector of changes to rent levels and Housing Benefit; and 

 the role of the Mayor in promoting the development of Supported Housing in London. 

 

Guests may be invited from a range of organisations involved in the provision of these services, 

including housing providers, the boroughs and the Greater London Authority. 

 

 

4.4 Topics for further meetings will be agreed by the Committee in coming weeks. 

 

                                                 
1 A record of the site visit can be found at Agenda Item 11. 

Page 120



        

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no direct financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: none. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Lorraine Ford, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4394 

Email: scrutiny@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 121

mailto:scrutiny@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	6 Minutes
	06a Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript of Item 5

	7 Summary List of Actions
	07a Appendix 1 -  Letter from GLA re 24 February meeting

	8 Action Taken under Delegated Authority
	08a - Appendix 1 - Chair to Next Mayor - FINAL- Affordable Rent Letter

	9 The Impact of Rent Stabilisation on London's Tenants and Landlords
	09a - Appendix 1 - At Home With Renting
	Chair’s Foreword
	Summary
	Part 1:  London’s Private Rented Sector Today
	Part 2:  Do We Need to Act?
	Part 3:  How Would the Market React to Stabilisation Measures?
	Part 4:  So What Should We Do?
	Appendix 1  Minority Report of the GLA Conservatives
	Appendix 2  Conduct of the Investigation
	Appendix 3  International Rent and Tenure Regulations
	Appendix 4  The Rent Stabilisation Scenarios Modelled
	Orders and translations

	09b - Appendix 2 - Response from Mayor 'At Home with Renting Report' 040416

	10 Questions to the Deputy Mayor for Housing
	11 Site Visit to East Thames Supported Housing Schemes
	12 Housing Committee Work Programme

